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FORM 2A 
 

LISTING STATEMENT 

This Listing Statement must be used for all initial applications for listing and for Issuers 
resulting from a fundamental change.  The Exchange requires prospectus level disclosure 
in the Listing Statement (other than certain financial disclosure and interim Management's 
Discussion and Analysis) and can require that the Issuer include additional disclosure. 

General Instructions 

(a) Please prepare this Listing Statement using the format set out below.  The 
sequence of questions must not be altered nor should questions be omitted or left 
unanswered.  The answers to the following items must be in narrative form.  When 
the answer to any item is negative or not applicable to the Issuer, state it in a 
sentence.  The title to each item must precede the answer. 

(b) In this form, the term “Issuer” includes the applicant Issuer and any of its 
subsidiaries. 

(c) In determining the degree of detail required, a standard of materiality should be 
applied. Materiality is a matter of judgment in a particular circumstance, and should 
generally be determined in relation to an item's significance to investors, analysts 
and other users of the information. An item of information, or an aggregate of items, 
is considered material if it is probable that its omission or misstatement would 
influence or change an investment decision with respect to the Issuer's securities. 
In determining whether information is material, take into account both quantitative 
and qualitative factors. The potential significance of items should be considered 
individually rather than on a net basis, if the items have an offsetting effect. This 
concept of materiality is consistent with the financial reporting notion of materiality 
contained in the Handbook. 

(d) Terms used and not defined in this form are defined or interpreted in Policy 1 – 
Interpretation. 

(e) For Issuers that are re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change, 
provide historic and current details on  
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(i) the Issuer  

(ii) all other companies or businesses that are involved in the fundamental 
change (the “target”); and 

(iii) the entity that will result from the fundamental change (the "New 
Issuer").   

Information concerning the Issuer that was contained in the most recent Listing 
Statement may be incorporated by reference, but this statement must indicate 
if any of the information in the prior statement has changed (e.g. describing a 
business that will no longer be undertaken by the New Issuer). Information 
concerning assets or lines of business of the target that will not be part of the 
New Issuer's business should not be included. 

(f) This Listing Statement provides prospectus-level disclosure. It will be amended 
from time to time to reflect any changes to the prospectus disclosure requirements. 
If changed, the new form is to be used for the next listing statement the Issuer is 
required to file. The Issuer does not have to amend a listing statement currently on 
file to reflect any new disclosure requirements.   
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1. Table of Contents 
 
1.1 Include a table of contents with the following headings: 
 
1. Table of Contents ...............................................................................................................................  
2. Corporate Structure ............................................................................................................................  
3. General Development of the Business ..............................................................................................  
4 Narrative Description of the Business ................................................................................................  
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information ....................................................................................  
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis ............................................................................................  

Annual MD&A .....................................................................................................................................  
Interim MD&A .....................................................................................................................................  

7. Market for Securities ..........................................................................................................................  
8. Consolidated Capitalization ...............................................................................................................  
9. Options to Purchase Securities ..........................................................................................................  
10. Description of the Securities ..............................................................................................................  
11. Escrowed Securities ...........................................................................................................................  
12. Principal Shareholders .......................................................................................................................  
13 Directors and Officers ........................................................................................................................  
14. Capitalization ......................................................................................................................................  
15. Executive Compensation ...................................................................................................................  
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers .............................................................................  
17.  Risk Factors .......................................................................................................................................  
18. Promoters ...........................................................................................................................................  
19. Legal Proceedings .............................................................................................................................  
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions ...........................................................  
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars ..........................................................................................  
22. Material Contracts ..............................................................................................................................  
23 Interest of Experts ..............................................................................................................................  
24. Other Material Facts ...........................................................................................................................  
25. Financial Statements ..........................................................................................................................  
APPENDIX A: MINERAL PROJECTS ............................................................................................................  
APPENDIX B: OIL AND GAS PROJECTS .....................................................................................................  
APPENDIX C: DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN SECURITIES ..........................................................................  
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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated 
entity, the full name under which the entity exists and carries on business and the 
address(es) of the Issuer's head and registered office.  

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was originally incorporated under the 
Business Corporations Act of British Columbia on January 9, 2017.  

The Company’s head office is located at Suite 1140- 625 Howe St, Vancouver, BC, V6C 
2T5 and its registered office is located at Suite 704, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver B.C.  
V6C 2T5. 
The Company has a wholly owned subsidiary Scotch Creek Ventures (NV) Inc. 
                         
 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or 
organized or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or 
foreign jurisdiction under which the Issuer is established and exists.   Describe the 
substance of any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing 
documents of the Issuer.  
 
The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 
on January 9, 2017 with the name Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. 
 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships 

among the Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 
             The Company has a wholly owned subsidiary Scotch Creek Ventures (NV) Inc. 
 
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary 
represented by voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control 
or direction is exercised, by the Issuer; 100% 

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and Nevada USA 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or over 

which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer.  
        There are only common shares of which the Company 100% 
 

2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an 
acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by 
way of diagram or otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and 
after the completion of the proposed transaction. 

             N/A- Not requalifying 
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2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must 
describe how their governing legislation or constating documents differ materially 
from Canadian corporate legislation with respect to the corporate governance 
principles set out in Policy 4. 

             N/A Incorporated in BC Canada 
 
3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most 

recently completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only 
major events or conditions that have influenced the general development of the 
Issuer's business.  If the business consists of the production or distribution of 
more than one product or the rendering of more than one kind of service, 
describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss changes in the business 
of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial year of the 
Issuer. 

 
Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. is a Vancouver based mineral exploration 
company focused on mineral exploration and development in North 
America. The Issuer currently has one mineral property, the Cupz Property 
in the Esmerelda County, Nevada, on which it completed a mapping and 
sampling program in 2018 and a drilling program in 2019 and 2020.  
The Company is undertaking due diligence on lithium claims in the Clayton 
Valley (“Clayton Valley Claims”) of Nevada as part of its strategy to diversify 
within the mining friendly state of Nevada.  

 
 
3.2 Disclose: 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant 
probable acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial 
statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 
General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus; and 

 
 

In March 2021the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 
two substantial lithium properties subject to due diligence in the 
Clayton Valley, Nevada. The two projects, Highlands West and 
Macallan East, are located in the highly prospective district for lithium 
exploration and production and cover approximately 9,100 acres. 
The Company has agreed subject to due diligence to issue 3,500,000 
million shares for the claims. 
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(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most 
recently completed financial year or the current financial year for which 
pro forma financial statements would be required under National 
Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing 
Statement were a prospectus.  

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or 

disposed of; The Company is in process of completing due 
diligence to acquire placer claims within the Clayton Valley, 
Nevada.  

 
(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or significant 

disposition; The Clayton Valley claims are subject to completing due 
diligence and a 43-101 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be 

paid, to or by the Issuer;  
        The Company will issue 3,500,000 shares in total for all the claims and 

will be required to pay BLM and County fees as well staking costs 
when the transaction is completed. 

 
(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any 

significant acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good 
standing; 

        Above. 
 

(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the 
operating results and financial position of the Issuer;  

        The cost of BLM fees are significant but are required to maintain the 
claims which is an expected cost of business. 

 
(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required 

under Canadian securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority, or a requirement of a Canadian stock 
exchange or other Canadian market to support the value of the 
consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
for the assets, including the name of the author, the date of the opinion, 
the assets to which the opinion relates and the value attributed to the 
assets; and  

         None 
 

(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, 
disclose the identity of the other parties and the relationship of the 
other parties to the Issuer. 
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        Not a related party transaction. 
 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently known 

to management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on the 
Issuer's business, financial condition or results of operations, providing forward-
looking information based on the Issuer's expectations as of the date of the 
Listing Statement. 

             The market for lithium is looking very bright with the global trend towards                     
              Electric vehicles and away from fossil fuels. Gold prices have also remained            
              also remained very resilient throughout the current world events. 
  
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable 
operating segments as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business 
in general.  Include the following for each reportable operating segment of 
the Issuer: 

 
(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in 

the forthcoming 12-month period; 
        The primary objective is to close the Clayton Valley claims and carry 

out exploration on those claims, with the objective of drilling the 
property. 

 
(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the 

business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific 
time period in which each event is expected to occur and the costs 
related to each event; 

        First, Complete the “Clayton Valley Claims” due diligence and 43-
101’s. 

        Second, complete a proposed private placement of units (see below). 
        Third, commence a work program with a focus on lithium brines. 
 
        On April 26, 2021 the Company closed a private placement of units at 

35 cents per unit. The total amount subscribed for was 6,566,120 units 
at 35 cents per unit for gross proceeds of $2,298,142, net 
$2,202,666.72 after payment of finders' fees totalling $95,475.28. The 
company issued 344,637 finders' warrants to registered investment 
dealers, with each warrant exercisable to purchase one additional 
common share for a period of two years from issuance at 50 cents per 
share. 

        Each unit consists of one common share of the company and one 
share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder to 
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purchase one additional common share for a period of two years from 
issuance at 50 cents per share. The company has the right to 
accelerate the expiry of the warrants should the company's shares 
trade above $1.00 for 10 consecutive trading days. In the event of 
acceleration, the expiry date will be accelerated to a date that is 15 
business days after the company issues a news release announcing 
that it has elected to exercise this acceleration right. 

        The securities issued under the private placement will be subject to a 
hold period expiring four months and one day from the date of issuance 
pursuant to applicable Canadian securities laws and relevant 
restrictions under the securities laws of other jurisdictions where the 
placees may be resident. 

 
         
 
(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following 

breakdown of those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the 
most recent month end prior to filing the Listing Statement, and 

 
        At December 31, 2020 a working capital deficiency of $177,081. 
        On January 31, 2021 3,000,000 warrants were exercised at $0.12 

for a total of $360,000.          
        Estimated working Capital of $150,000.00 

    
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to 

be used to achieve the objectives and milestones set out in 
paragraphs (a) and (b); and 

 
        On April 26, 2021 the Company closed a private placement of 

units at 35 cents per unit. The total amount subscribed for was 
6,566,120 units at 35 cents per unit for gross proceeds of 
$2,298,142, net $2,202,666.72 after payment of finders' fees 
totalling $95,475.28. The company issued 344,637 finders' 
warrants to registered investment dealers, with each warrant 
exercisable to purchase one additional common share for a 
period of two years from issuance at 50 cents per share. 

               
 

(d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, 
each of the principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which 
the funds available described under the preceding paragraph will be 
used by the Issuer. 

        Completion of due diligence and 43-101 reports on the Clayton Valley 
Claims. 
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        - 43-101’s for the two claim blocks and due diligence estimate 
$200,000 

       -Geophysics program estimated at $150,000 
       - Payment of BLM claims estimated $150,000. 
       - Depending on the geophysics results the Company plans to     

commence drilling later in the year (no budget at this time). 
         

(2) For principal products or services describe:  
 
          Not applicable to all below. 

 
a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
 
b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently 

completed financial years, the revenues for each category of principal 
products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or more of total 
consolidated revenues for the applicable financial year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is a 
participant or to entities in which your company has an 
investment accounted for by the equity method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), 
outside the consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 
 

c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal products 
or services and, if the products are not at the commercial production 
stage, 

 
(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
 
(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including an 

estimate of anticipated costs, 
 
(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and 

development, is subcontracting out the research and development 
or is using a combination of those methods, and 

 
(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and 

an estimate of costs and timing. 
 

(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 
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                           Not Applicable to all below. 
a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the Issuer 

provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing services; 
 
b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options 

of any material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good standing 
and, if applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related Person of 
the Issuer; 

 
c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the skill 

and knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts 
or finished products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable 

intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, 
franchises, licences, patents, software, subscription lists and 
trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 

 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be affected 
in the 12 months following the date of the Listing Statement by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts and the likely 
effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection 

requirements on the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive 
position of the Issuer in the current financial year and the expected 
effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or as 

an average over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 
j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 

dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations; 
 
k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business is 

substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part of your 
company's products or services or to purchase the major part of your 
company's requirements for goods, services or raw materials, or any 
franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, trade 
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secret, process or trade name upon which your company's business 
depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you 

reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely 
effect. 

 
(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic 

areas in which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an 
assessment of the Issuer's competitive position. 

 
(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the 

investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. 
 

(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or 
similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any 
voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or any 
of its subsidiaries, within the three most recently completed financial years or 
the current financial year. 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of 
the Issuer within the three most recently completed financial years or 
completed during or proposed for the current financial year. 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the 
Issuer’s relationship with the environment or with the communities in which 
the Issuer does business, or human rights policies, describe them and the 
steps the Issuer has taken to implement them. 

 
 

Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 

4.2 In respect of any outstanding asset-backed securities, disclose the following 
information:  

         Not applicable to all 

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or 
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount 
of any payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed 
securities. 

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the three most recently completed financial 
years of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date on 
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which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, information on 
the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities relating to 

(a) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial 
period; 

(b) income and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such 
shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of 
assets; 

(c) the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at least 
an annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the nature 
of the underlying pool of assets; 

(d) servicing and other administrative fees; and 

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in 
paragraphs (a), (b), (c), or (d). 

(3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to 
investments of any cash flow surpluses. 

(4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the three most 
recently completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the 
first date on which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, in 
respect of principal and interest or capital and yield, each stated separately, 
on asset-backed securities of your company outstanding. 

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the 
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest 
or capital of asset-backed securities. 

 
(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding 

asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of 
financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities represented by 
obligations of each principal obligor and whether the principal obligor has 
filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K, Form 10-KSB or Form 20F in 
the United States. 

 
 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information required 

by Appendix A for each property material to the Issuer. 
 

The Cupz Property consists of 39 unpatented lode mining claims in Esmeralda 
County, Nevada. The existing Cupz Property covers 806 acres in the Cuprite Hills 
District.  
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On July 12, 2017, the Company entered into the Cupz Property Purchase 
Agreement with the Vendor whereby the Vendor sold the Company an undivided 
100% interest in 14 claims (Cupz-1 to Cupz-14) of the Cupz Property. The 
Company acquired these claims for the sum of $17,000. The Company staked the 
25 additional claims (Cupz 15 to Cupz 39) in November 2017 to cover targets 
revealed by summer – fall exploration work of which the Company is the beneficial 
holder and Curellie LLC the registered holder. The Cupz Property as a whole 
consists of a contiguous block of 39 claims (Cupz 1 to Cupz 39), covering about 
806 acres. The Company holds the Cupz Property outright with no underlying 
leases. 

 

 Discussion of the Cupz Property  

During the year ended  December 31, 2020the Company paid BLM fees of 
$10,390 to maintain the Cupz claims and $2,613 for assays from the last drill 
program. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company completed a drill program 
on the Cupz property. The Company is analyzing the results and consulting with its 
geologist to determine the next exploration program. 

The Company is currently in the process of acquiring the Clayton Valley Claims 
see 3.2. 

4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the information 
required by Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). 

 
           Not Applicable 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in 

summary form for each of the last three completed financial years and any period 
subsequent to the most recent financial year end for which financial statements 
have been prepared, accompanied by a discussion of the factors affecting the 
comparability of the data, including discontinued operations, changes in 
accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant dispositions and major 
changes in the direction of the Issuer's business:  

                See “Schedule A” attached. 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; None 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 14 

 
  

(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and 
fully diluted per share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

        N/A, loss of $211,255  ($0.01 per share) 
 

(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share 
basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

       Loss per share, Basic and diluted, $0.01 
 

(d) total assets; $310,263 
 

 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; $25,000 

 
(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; None 
 
(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding of the 

Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations and would highlight 
other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 

The following financial data prepared in accordance with IFRS stated in Canadian 
dollars is presented as at December 31, 2020, 2019, and, 2018:  

 
 

For the Years ended 

 Year ended 
December 

31, 2020 

 Year ended 
December 

31, 2019 

 Year ended 
December 

31, 2018 
Total Revenue $ - $                   -  $                - 
Net loss for the year $ 211,255 $ 165,029  117,579 
       
Total Assets $ 310,263 $ 270,732  $     416,160 
Total Liabilities $ 251,719 $ 159,099  $     139,498 
Cash Dividends per share $ - $ -  - 
Basic and diluted loss per 
share $            0.01 $    0.01 

 
$           0.01 

 
 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters 

ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the 
information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1. 
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 2020                         2019  

    

 31-Dec 30-Sept 30-June 31-March 31-Dec 30-Sept 30-June 31-Mar 
Revenues   $ Nil $ Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil 
Loss before 
other items $   52,250 $   136,811  $   46,176 $    46,963 $     53,578 $    45,193 $    39,839 

 
26,419 

Share based 
Adjustment 

 $  (70,945)       

Net Loss $    52,250 $   65,866 $     46,176 $    46,963 $    53,478 $     45,193 $     39,839 $    26,419 
Loss per 
share- basic 
and diluted 

$ (0.00) $ (0.00)   $ (0.00)      $ (0.00)     $ (0.00)     $ (0.00)     $ (0.00)     $ (0.00) 

Shares 
Outstanding 15,549,265 15,272,500 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 

 
 
 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: 
 

(a) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; and 
 

(b) the Issuer's dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to change the 
dividend policy, the intended change in dividend policy. 

 
The Company has never declared, nor paid, any dividend since its incorporation 
and does not foresee paying any dividend in the near future since all available 
funds will be used to conduct exploration activities.  Any future payment of 
dividends will depend on the financing requirements and financial condition of the 
Company and other factors which the Board, in its sole discretion, may consider 
appropriate and in the best interests of the Company. 

 
 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial 

information required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if: 
 

(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using foreign 
GAAP; and 

 
(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have 

reconciled its financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing 
its financial statements or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a cross 
reference to the notes to the financial statements containing the 
reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included. 

 
N/A 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 

 
Annual MD&A See Management’s Discussion and Analysis included in item 25             
and attached as “Schedule B” 

 
 

7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on which 

the Issuer's securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. 
             The Company’s common shares are listed and posted for trading on the 

Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol “SCV” 
 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the 

share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of 
the comparative financial statements for the Issuer's most recently completed 
financial year contained in the Listing Statement. 

              

 

No preferred shares were issued and outstanding during in the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.  

Issued during the year ended December 31, 2020:  

On July 8, 2020 the Company settled outstanding indebtedness (pertaining to 
current services provided) in the amount of $115,000 in exchange for 1,437,500 
common shares of the Company at a price of $0.08 per common share. The debt 

  Number   Amount   Reserves 
 

  Deficit   
Total 

sharehold
ers' equity 

Balance at December 31, 
2018 13,835,000 $ 478,997 $ 22,486 $ $ (224,821) $ 276,662 

Loss for the year -  -  -   (165,029)  (165,029) 
Balance at December 31, 
2019 13,835,000  478,997  22,486   (389,850)  111,633 

Debt Settlement 1,437,500  115,000  -   -  115,000 

Warrants exercised 276,765  33,211  -   -  33,211 

Share-based payments -  -  9,955   -  9,955 

Net loss for the year -  -  -   (211,255)  (211,255) 
Balance at December 31, 
2020 15,549,265 $ 627,208 $ 32,441 $ $ (601,105) $ 58,544 
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settlement arrangements include Directors and Officers of the Company, and 
associated companies of Directors and Officers totalling $105,000.  

The Company issued 276,765 shares pursuant to the exercise of broker warrants 
at $0.12 per share for a total of $33,212.  

Subsequent to the year end the Company had 3,000,000 warrants exercised at 
$0.12 for proceeds of $360,000.  

On April 26, 2021 the Company closed a private placement of units at 35 cents 
per unit. The total amount subscribed for was 6,566,120 units at 35 cents per unit 
for gross proceeds of $2,298,142, net $2,202,666.72 after payment of finders' 
fees totalling $95,475.28. The company issued 344,637 finders' warrants to 
registered investment dealers, with each warrant exercisable to purchase one 
additional common share for a period of two years from issuance at 50 cents per 
share. 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the 

date of the Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities of 
the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group 

and all directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not also executive 
officers as a group, indicating the aggregate number of executive officers 
and the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies, 
without naming them; 

 
(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the 

Issuer as a group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries 
who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each 
case, without naming them and excluding individuals referred to in 
paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and 
the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without 

naming them; 
 

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 
group, without naming them;  

 
(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 
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(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each 
person or company. 

 
On May 30, 2018, the Company adopted a Stock Option Plan (the "Stock 
Option Plan") providing for the grant to the Company’s officers, directors, 
employees, permitted consultants, and, management company employees, 
of options to purchase common shares of the Company. Under the Stock 
Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase up to 10% of the 
issued and outstanding shares of the Company.  
On July 15, 2020 the Company granted 1,400,000 stock options to Directors 
and Officers in accordance with the terms of the Company’s Stock Option 
Plan. The stock options are exercisable at $0.08 per share for a period of 
three years from the date of grant (July 15, 2023) and vest immediately.  
The Company has recorded the fair value of all options granted using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model. Share-based payment expense was 
calculated using the following weighted average assumptions: expected life 
of options - 3 years, expected stock price volatility – 12.00%,  
no dividend yield, and a risk-free interest rate yield – 0.29%. Using these 
assumptions, the fair value of options granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2020 was $0.007 per option, for a  
total of $9,955.  

 

 
    Weighted 
  Number Price Average 
  of Options  Exercise Price 
Balance as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018    0 

 
$                0.00 

Options granted (expire July 15, 2023)      1,400,000 0.08                   0.08 
Balance as at December 31, 2020      1,400,000  $                0.08 
Options granted (expire March 2,2024)        450,000 0.45 $                    - 
Balance March 26, 2021     1,850,000  $                0.17 
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Name Number of 
Options 

Option 
Exercise Price 

Option Expiry 
Date 

Logan Anderson 550,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 
Dave Ryan 550,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 
Donald Archibald 150,000 $0.08 July15, 2023 
Bernie Hoing 150,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 
Lorrie Archibald 50,000 $0.45 March 2, 2024 
George Drazenovic 150,000 $0.45 March 2, 2024 
BMD Financial 200,000 $0.45 March 2, 2024 
Pan Ocean 
Consulting 

50,000 $0.45 March 2, 2024 

Total 1,850,00   
 

 
10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity securities 

and describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: 
 

a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 

d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and 

any other material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 

          Authorized  
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Unlimited common shares, without par value. Unlimited preferred shares, without           
par value.  

           Common shares issued 18,549,265 

The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend 
and vote at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company and each Common 
Share shall confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of 
the shareholders of the Company. The holders of the Common Shares, subject 
to the prior rights, if any, of any other class of shares of the Company, are 
entitled to receive such dividends in any financial year as the Board of Directors 
of the Company may by resolution determine. In the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the 
holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive, subject to the prior rights, 
if any, of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company, the remaining 
property and assets of the Company.  The Common Shares do not carry any pre-
emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor do they contain any 
sinking or purchase fund provisions. 
 
No preferred shares were issued and outstanding during in the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. 

  
The holders of the preferred shares are not entitled to receive notice of and not 
entitled to vote at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company other than at 
meeting of preferred shareholders. The preferred shares may include one or 
more series of shares. The registered holders of the preferred shares are entitled 
to receive dividends if and when declared by the Board of Directors out of the 
funds or assets of the Company properly applicable to the payment of dividends.  
The Board of Directors of the Company may at any time declare and authorize 
the payment of such dividends exclusively to the registered holders of the 
preferred shares without declaring any corresponding dividends to the registered 
holders of the Common Shares.  In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up of the Company or other distribution of the assets of the Company 
among its members for the purpose of winding up the affairs of the Company, 
whether voluntary or involuntary, the registered holders of the preferred shares 
shall be entitled to receive the amount paid up with respect to each preferred 
share together with an amount equal to all declared and unpaid dividends on 
such shares in priority of the Common Shares.  After payment to the registered 
holders of the preferred shares of the amount payable to them as provided for 
above, they shall not, as such, be entitled to share in any further distribution of 
the property or assets of the Company. The preferred shares do not carry any 
pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor do they contain 
any sinking or purchase fund provisions. 
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10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material attributes 

and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, 
including: 

           N/A for all 
 

(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 
 

(b) conversion or exchange rights; 
 

(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 
 

(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 
 

(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly 
identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge; 

 
(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities, the 

incurring of additional indebtedness and other material negative covenants, 
including restrictions against payment of dividends and restrictions against 
giving security on the assets of the Issuer or its subsidiaries, and provisions 
as to the release or substitution of assets securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or 

among its affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 
 

 
10.4 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities are 

being listed, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of those 
securities. 

           N/A 
 
10.5 Modification of terms: 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any 
rights attached to the securities being listed; and 

          N/A 
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(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in 
accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions 
of the governing statute relating to the securities, explain briefly. 

          N/A 

10.6 Other attributes: 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially limited or 
qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other class 
of securities ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being listed, 
include information about the other securities that will enable investors to 
understand the rights attaching to the securities being listed; and 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or 
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be redeemed 
or repurchased. 

           N/A 
 
10.7 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the 

securities to be listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date of the 
Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the Issuer or any Related Person and the 
number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at each price. 

 
On July 8, 2020 the Company settled outstanding indebtedness (pertaining to 
current services provided) in the amount of $115,000 in exchange for 1,437,500 
common shares of the Company at a price of $0.08 per common share. The debt 
settlement arrangements include Directors and Officers of the Company, and 
associated companies of Directors and Officers totalling $105,000.  

The Company issued 276,765 shares pursuant to the exercise of broker 
warrants at $0.12 per share for a total of $33,212.  

The Company had 3,000,000 warrants exercised at $0.12 for proceeds of 
$360,000 by two officers of the Company. 

On April 26, 2021 the Company closed a private placement of units at 35 cents 
per unit. The total amount subscribed for was 6,566,120 units at 35 cents per 
unit for gross proceeds of $2,298,142, net $2,202,666.72 after payment of 
finders' fees totalling $95,475.28. The company issued 344,637 finders' 
warrants to registered investment dealers, with each warrant exercisable to 
purchase one additional common share for a period of two years from issuance 
at 50 cents per share. 
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10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on 
a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the 
price ranges and volume traded on the Canadian stock exchange or market 
on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed 

on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide 
the price ranges and volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if 

applicable, part month, of the current quarter and the immediately preceding 
quarter and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven quarters. 

            
Month High Low Volume 
Jan-20 0.075 0.075             32,700 
Feb-20 0.10 0.075 60,000 
Mar-20 0.00 0.00 0 
Apr-20 0.07 0.07 1,000 
May-20 0.085 0.07 25,000 
Jun-20 0.085 0.08 101,100 
Jul-20 0.12 0.08 134,000 

Aug-20 0.12 0.10 40,000 
Sep-20 0.10     0.10 48,000 
Oct-20 0.11    0.10 65,000 
Nov-20 0.16 0.11 92,500 
Dec-20 0.16 0.16 264,820 
Jan-21 0.165 0.16 24,000 
Feb-21 0.55 0.165 675,270 
Mar-21 0.88 0.55 1,909,492 

       
 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing 

Statement, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of 
each class of securities of the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in 
escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form includes any securities subject to a 
pooling agreement) and the percentage that number represents of the 
outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose the name of 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 24 

 
  

the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of 
the securities from escrow. 

 
 ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 

Designation of class held in 
escrow 
 

 Number of securities 
 held in escrow 

Percentage of 
class 

 
Common shares 

 
1,110,001 

 
7% 

 
 A total of 3,700,001 common shares were subject to escrow. As at December          
31, 2020 1,110,001 remain held in escrow (December 31, 2019 – 2,220,001). The 
shares are released at a rate of 15% every 6 months from December 28, 2019.  
The escrow agent is National Issuer Services Ltd. 

 
 
12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the Issuer 

as of a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  Listing 
Statement: 

 
(a) Name; 

 
(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed; 

 
(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned 

both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only; and 
 

(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to be 
owned. 

(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has proposed 
an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, 
indicate, to the extent known, the holding of each person of company 
described in paragraph (1) that will exist after giving effect to the transaction. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of 

voting securities of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting 
trust or other similar agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the 
designation of the securities, the number or amount of the securities held or 
to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of the agreement.  
State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly 
their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 
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(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate 

or affiliate of another person or company named as a principal shareholder, 
disclose, to the extent known, the material facts of the relationship, including 
any basis for influence over the Issuer held by the person or company other 
than the holding of voting securities of the Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required 

calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis. 
 

Name 

Number and 
Class of 
Shares 
Owned 

 Class of 
Shares 
Owned 

Type of 
Ownership 

Percentage of 
Common Shares 

Owned (1) 
Logan 
Anderson 

2,093,750  Common 
Shares 

Direct 12.4%(1) 

Dave  

Ryan 

 

2,119,751 Common 
Shares 

 

Direct 12.5%(1) 

(1) On a fully-diluted basis, assuming all of the 1,400,000 stock options granted, the 
percentage of Common Shares; based on 16,949,265 Common Shares outstanding, 
Logan Anderson will own 12.4% and Dave Ryan will own 12.5% (fully diluted). 

 
 
13 Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive officer 

of the Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held with the 
Issuer and their respective principal occupations within the five preceding years. 

 
 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director 

and when his or her term of office will expire. 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities 

of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or 
over which control or direction is exercised by all directors and executive officers 
of the Issuer as a group. 

 
 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each 

committee. 
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13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an 
officer of a person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state 
the principal business of the person or company. 

 
13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 

number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, is, 
or within 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement has been, a director 
or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied 

the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the 
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 

ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the 
subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant 
company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period 
of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the basis on 
which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

 
(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were 

imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that 
gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, or a 
shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially the 
control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 

Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 

regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 
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13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities 

of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding 
company of any such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the 
Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer, 
state the fact. 

 
13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between 

the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for 

each member of management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the Issuer 
and relevant educational background; 

 
(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what proportion 

of the individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 
 

(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of the 
Issuer; 

 
(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five 

years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to 
each organization as of the time such occupation or employment was 
carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business, 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual, and 

 
(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 

 
(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 
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(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-
disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 
 

Name 
Province, Country of 
Residence and Position(s) 
with the Company 
 

Periods During 
which Nominee 
has Served as a 
Director and/or 
Officer 
 

Principal Occupation, Business or Employment for 
Last Five Years  
 

Number of 
Common 

Shares 
Owned (1) 

 
DAVID RYAN(1) 

British Columbia, Canada 
CEO, President and Director 

Director since 
January 2017 
CEO since May 
2018 

Director of the International Battery Metals Ltd. since 
August 2019; Previously served as a Director of 
International Battery Metals Ltd. from August 2018 to 
April 2019; Self-employed consultant since 1998; 
Director of GlobeX Data Ltd. since March 17, 2017; 
President, Secretary and Director of Canna-V-Cell 
Sciences Inc. since April 13, 2013; Director, President, 
Secretary and Vice President Finance of Yaterra 
Ventures Corp. from September 2011 to April 24, 2014; 
Director and CEO of Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. since 
January 17, 2017; Director and VP Corporate 
Communications of InsuraGuest Technologies Inc.. 
since August 2010 and Chief Financial Officer since 
November 11, 2016.  Director of Ovation Science Inc. 
since October 4, 2017 

2,119,751 
(Direct) 

LOGAN ANDERSON 
British Columbia, Canada 
CFO, Secretary and Director 
 

CFO, Secretary 
since May 2018 
and Director 
since January 
2017 

Director of the International Battery Metals Ltd. since 
May 2017.  CFO of the International Battery Metals Ltd. 
since April 2018.  Previously served as President and 
CEO of the Company.  Director and CFO of InsuraGuest 
Technologies Inc. since August 2010; Director of 
Ovation Science Inc. since July 18, 2017.  President of 
Ovation Science Inc. from July 18, 2017 to October 4, 
2017.  CFO of Ovation Science Inc. since October 4, 
2017; CFO and director of Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. 
since January 17, 2017; CFO and Secretary of Aloro 
Mining Corp. (formerly, Wolverine Minerals Corp., 
“Aloro”), a Canadian gold exploration company, since 
August 2006; Director of Aloro since June 2004, former 
President of Aloro from June 2004 to August 2006; and 
Principal and President of Amteck Financial Corp. (and 
its predecessor Amteck Financial Services Company), a 
private consulting company, since 1993. 

2,093,750 
(Direct)  

BERNIE HOING(1)
 

British Columbia, Canada 
Director 

Director since 
January 2017 
 

Director of Midnight Star Ventures Inc. from November 
2014 to September 2018. Claim Manager, Home 
Warranty at Travelers Canada (July 2006 – Present). 

Nil 
 

DONALD ARCHIBALD (1)
 

British Columbia, Canada 
Director 

Director since 
January 2017 
 

Insurance agent for Sussex Insurance since 2014 and 
prior to that an insurance agent with Archibald Clarke 
and Defieux Insurance Services. 
 

712,500 
(Direct) 

Notes: 
(1) Member of the Audit Committee. 
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David Ryan - Director 
 
Mr. Ryan has extensive experience in investment and public markets.  For the past 20 
years, he has been part of in bringing multiple initial public offerings to market. He has 
helped raise both equity and debt financings for numerous public companies in both 
primary and secondary financings as well as served on the board of public companies 
and in various roles from president to director. 
 
Mr. Ryan will devote approximately 35% of his time to the Company. He has not 
entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company.  Mr. 
Ryan is an independent contractor of the Company. 
 
David K. Ryan was a director of Yaterra Ventures Corp. in January 2013 when it became 
subject to a cease trade order of the BCSC for failing to file financial statements as 
required by Multilateral Instrument 51-105. On April 24, 2014, Mr. Ryan resigned as 
director of Yaterra. The cease trade order is still in effect as of the date of this filing.  
 
Logan B. Anderson – Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Director and Promoter 
 
Mr. Anderson provides considerable financial and management expertise to Scotch 
Creek Ventures Inc.  He holds the designation of ACA with the Chartered Accountants 
(Australia and New Zealand).  He began his career as an associate chartered 
accountant in New Zealand and then Canada.   This was followed by his position as 
controller of a management services company which was responsible for the 
management of a number of private and publicly traded companies. Since 1993, Mr. 
Anderson has served as President of Amteck Management Inc., a private financial 
consulting services company servicing both private and public companies.  Mr. 
Anderson is currently President / Director and on the audit committee of International 
Battery Metals Inc., President, CEO and Director, of Manado Gold Corp, the CFO, 
Secretary and Director of Aloro Mining Corp., and also CFO and Director of Scotch 
Creek Ventures. 
 
Mr. Anderson will be responsible for the accounting activities of the Company.  Mr. 
Anderson will devote approximately 35% of his time to the Company or such greater 
amount of time as is necessary.  Mr. Anderson has not entered into a non-competition 
or non-disclosure agreement with the Company.  Mr. Anderson is an independent 
contractor of the Company. 
 
 
The following persons are members of the Company’s audit committee: 
 
 

Name Independent/Not 
Independent Financially Literate 

Dave Ryan Not Independent Yes 
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Donald Archibald Independent Yes 
Bernie Hoing Independent Yes 

 
David Ryan: Mr. Ryan has extensive experience in investment and public markets.  For 
the past 20 years, he has been part of bringing multiple initial public offerings to market. 
He has helped raise both equity and debt financings for numerous public companies, in 
both primary and secondary financings, as well as served on the board of public 
companies and in various roles from president to director. 
 
Donald Archibald:  has served as a Director of InsuraGuest Technologies Inc. (formerly, 
Manado Gold Corp.) from August 2010 to February 2020 and served as Chief Financial 
Officer and Corporate Secretary from June 2011 to November 2016. Throughout the 
1980s and 1990s, Mr. Archibald has previously served as a director or officer of a number 
of public mining companies. 
 
Bernie Hoing: Mr. Hoing has served as Claim Manager at Travelers Canada from July 
2006 to present. Mr. Hoing has served as a director of Midnight Star Ventures Inc. since 
November 2014. Mr. Hoing also served as President, Secretary, Treasurer and director 
of Pengram Corporation, a company formerly quoted on the OTC Markets (formerly the 
OTC Bulletin Board) engaged in the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties from 
April 2006 to May 2008. As such, Mr. Hoing is financially literate with respect to 
understanding financial statements relating to junior mining companies. 
 
The Board of Directors is currently comprised of four members.  The rules of the 
Exchange do not have independent director requirements. An “independent” director is a 
director who has no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company. A material 
relationship is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board of Directors, reasonably 
interfere with the exercise of a director’s independent judgment.  Donald Archibald and 
Bernie Hoing are independent directors of the Company, as aside from Common Shares 
held by them they have no ongoing interest or relationship with the Company other than 
serving as directors.   
 
The Board of Directors believes good corporate governance is an integral component to 
the success of the Company and to meet responsibilities to shareholders. Generally, the 
Board of Directors has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the 
Company’s governing corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions 
placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual director’s participation in 
decisions of the Board of Directors in which the director has an interest have been 
sufficient to ensure that the Board of Directors operates independently of management 
and in the best interests of the Company. 
 
The Board of Directors is also responsible for applying governance principles and 
practices, and tracking development in corporate governance, and adapting “best 
practices” to suit the needs of the Company. Certain of the Directors of the Company may 
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also be directors and officers of other companies, and conflicts of interest may arise 
between their duties. Such conflicts must be disclosed in accordance with and are subject 
to such other procedures and remedies as applicable under the BCA. 
 
The Board of Directors has not formed a nominating committee or similar committee to 
assist the Board of Directors with the nomination of directors for the Company. The Board 
of Directors considers itself too small to warrant creation of such a committee; and each 
of the Directors has contacts he can draw upon to identify new members of the Board of 
Directors as needed from time to time. 
 
The Board of Directors will continually assess its size, structure and composition, taking 
into consideration its current strengths, skills and experience, proposed retirements and 
the requirements and strategic direction of the Company. As required, directors will 
recommend suitable candidates for consideration as members of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
14. Capitalization 
 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  
 
Issued Capital 

 Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  15,549,265 16,949,265 100 100 
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
upon exercise or conversion 
of other securities held) (B) 

4,926,001 6,326,001 31.68 37.32 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 10,623,264 10,623,264 68.32 62.68 
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Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to 
resale restrictions, 
including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in 
a shareholder agreement 
and securities held by 
control block holders (C)  

1,110,001 1,110,001 7.1 6.6 

     
Total Tradeable Float (A-
C) 

14,439,264 15,839,264 92.9 93.4 

 
 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons 
other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered 
holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  23  5,371,666 
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  23  5,371,666 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of 
shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary 
provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; 
names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If 
an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, give 
the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  39  1,676 
     
100 – 499 securities  138  28,047 
     
500 – 999 securities  78  44,049 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  114  130,470 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  53  116,531 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  17  53,180 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  7  29,930 
     
5,000 or more  securities  149  13,997,853 
     
Unable to confirm  -  1,551,412 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 34 

 
  

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  4  4,926,001 
     
  4  4,926,001 

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into 

any class of listed securities 
 
Description of Security 
(include conversion /  
exercise terms, including 
conversion / exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

                 None                   0                     0 
 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included 

in section 14.2. None 
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15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any 

successor instrument and describe any intention to make any material changes 
to that compensation.  

             
     Non Equity Incentive 

Plan Compensation ($) 
   

Name and Principal 
Position 

 
Year 

 
Salary 

($) 

Share 
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Option 
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans 
 

Long Term 
Incentive 

Plans 
($) 

Pension Value 
($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 
David Ryan 
CEO & President 

2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 

60,000 
60,000 
30,000 
25,000 

- 
- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

60,000 
60,000 
30,000 
25,000 

Logan Anderson 
CFO & Secretary 

2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 

60,000 
60,000 
30,000 
25,000 

- 
- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

60,000 
60,000 
30,000 
25,000 

Bernie Hoing 
Director  

2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 

6,000 
6,000 
6,000 
6,000 

- 
- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

6,000 
6,000 
6,000 
6,000 

Donald Archibald 

Director 
2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 

6,000 
6,000 
6,000 
6,000 

- 
- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
- 

6,000 
6,000 
6,000 
6,000 

 
 
The following table sets forth all outstanding share based and option based awards to the Named Executive Officers 
and Directors as at the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
 
 Option Based Awards Share Based Awards 

 
Name  

Number of 
Securities 
underlying 
unexercised 

options 
(#) 

 
 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

Option Expiration 
Date 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-money 
options 

($) 

 
Number of 

shares or units of 
shares that have 

not vested 
(#) 

 
Market or payout 

value of share-
based awards that 
have not vested 

($) 
David Ryan 
CEO & President 

550,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 $44,000 All vested N/A 

Logan Anderson 
CFO & Secretary 

550,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 $44,000 All vested N/A 

Bernie Hoing 
Director 

150,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023 $12,000       All Vested N/A 

Donald Archibald 
Director 

150,000 $0.08 July 15, 2023      $12,000 All vested N/A 
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Stock Option Plan 
 
             The Directors of the Company adopted a stock option plan on May 30, 2018 (the 

“Stock Option Plan”). The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to advance the 
interests of the Company by encouraging the directors, officers, employees, 
management company employees and consultants of the Company, and of its 
subsidiaries and affiliates, if any, to acquire Common Shares in the share capital 
of the Company, thereby increasing their proprietary interest in the Company, 
encouraging them to remain associated with the Company and furnishing them 
with additional incentive in their efforts on behalf of the Company in the conduct 
of its affairs. The Stock Option Plan provides that, subject to the requirements of 
the Exchange, the aggregate number of securities reserved for issuance will be 
10% of the number of the Company’s Common Shares issued and outstanding 
at the time such options are granted.  The Stock Option Plan will be administered 
by the Company’s Board of Directors, which will have full and final authority with 
respect to the granting of all options thereunder.  

 
             Options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan to such the directors, 

officers, employees, management or consultants of the Company and its 
affiliates, if any, as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate. The 
exercise price of option grants will be determined by the Board of Directors, but 
after listing on the Exchange will not be less than the closing market price of the 
Common Shares on the Exchange less allowable discounts at the time of grant. 
The Stock Option Plan provides that the number of Common Shares that may 
be reserved for issuance to any one individual upon exercise of all stock options 
held by such individual may not exceed 5% of the issued Common Shares, if the 
individual is a director, officer, employee or consultant, or 1% of the issued 
Common Shares, if the individual is engaged in providing investor relations 
services, on a yearly basis.  All options granted under the Stock Option Plan will 
expire not later than the date that is ten years from the date that such options are 
granted.  Options terminate earlier as follows: (i) immediately in the event of 
dismissal with cause; (ii) 90 days from date of termination other than for cause; 
or (iii) one year from the date of death or disability.  Options granted under the 
Stock Option Plan are not transferable or assignable other than by will or other 
testamentary instrument or pursuant to the laws of succession. 

 
             Employment and Consulting Agreements 
 
             The Company has not entered into written employment or consulting agreements 

with its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer. The Company has 
agreed to pay its Chief Executive Officer a total of $10,000 per month and its 
Chief Financial Officer a total of $10,000 per month. In addition, the Company 
has agreed to pay each of its directors $500 per month commencing on their 
respective dates of appointment. 
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             Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer 

Compensation 
 
             The Board of Directors is solely responsible for determining the compensation to 

be paid to directors and executive officers including how and when such 
compensation is determined. The Board of Directors has not adopted any 
specific policies or objective for determining the amount or extent of 
compensation for directors or officers. The Compensation paid to Mr. Ryan and 
Mr. Anderson consisted of both cash and stock-based compensation.  Such 
compensation was not tied to one or more performance criteria or goals.  Mr. 
Hoing and Mr. Archibald both received stock-based compensation for providing 
their services as directors of the Company and directors fees.  

 
 
 
 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

          None 
  
 
17.  Risk Factors 

 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash flow 
and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks 
inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, environmental and health risks, 
reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political 
conditions and financial history and any other matter that would be likely to 
influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the Issuer. 

17.2  If there is a risk that securityholders of the Issuer may become liable to make an 
additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that risk. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor 
would consider relevant to an investment in the securities being listed and that 
are not otherwise described under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

 
18. Promoters  
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18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately 
preceding the date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a 
subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 

 
(a) the person or company's name; 
David Ryan (Ry N Ginger Enterprises Inc.) 
Logan Anderson (Amteck Financial Corp.) 

 
(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity 

securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly 
or indirectly, or over which control is exercised; 

         Dave Ryan 2,119,751 common shares directly or 12.5% 
         Logan Anderson 2,093,750 common shares or 12.4% 

 
(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, 

contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the 
promoter directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the 
Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other 
consideration therefor received or to be received by the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

        Dave Ryan (via Ry N Ginger Enterprises Inc) received an annual 
management fee of $60,000.00 for the last two years  

        Logan Anderson (via Amteck Financial Corp.) received an annual 
management fee of $60,000.00 for the past two years. 

         
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing 

Statement or thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary 
of the Issuer from a promoter:  

         None  
 

(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by 
which the consideration has been or will be determined,  

        N/A 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in 
subparagraph (i) and the person or company's relationship with the 
Issuer, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the 
promoter, and  

        N/A 
 

(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of 
the asset to the promoter.  

        N/A 
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18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was 
within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief executive officer, or 
chief financial officer of any person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and 
which resulted from an event that occurred while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether 
the order is still in effect.  

 
David K. Ryan was a director of Yaterra Ventures Corp. in January 2013 when it 
became subject to a cease trade order of the BCSC for failing to file financial 
statements as required by Multilateral Instrument 51-105. On April 24, 2014, Mr. 
Ryan resigned as director of Yaterra. The cease trade order is still in effect as of 
the date of this filing.  

 
 

(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means:  
 

(a) a cease trade order;  
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to 

any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days. 
See 18.2 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the 
date hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or company 
that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of 
that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 
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(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter, state 
the fact. 

        See 18.2 

 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they 
were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the 
circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a promoter 
referred to in section 18.2(1) has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory 
authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 
that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision. 

N/A to all. 
 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely 
be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment 
decision.  

                      N/A 
 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is 
the subject matter and any such proceedings known to the Issuer to be 
contemplated, including the name of the court or agency, the date instituted, the 
principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, the amount claimed, 
if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status of the 
proceedings. 

             None 
 

19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
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(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to 
provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against 

the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material 
facts relating to the securities being listed; and 

 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to 

provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory 
authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof. 
 
None to all. 

 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or 

indirect, of any of the following persons or companies in any transaction within 
the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who 

exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class or 
series of your outstanding voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b). 
 
     None to all. 

 
 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
              Davidson and Company LLP 
              1200-609 Granville Street 
              Vancouver BC Canada, V7Y 1G6 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, 

trustee, or other agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities register 
and the register of transfers for such securities and indicate the location (by 
municipality) of each of the offices of the Issuer or transfer agent, registrar, 
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trustee or other agent where the securities register and register of transfers are 
maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.  

  
             National Securities Administrators Ltd 
             Suite 702 – 777 Hornby Street 
             Vancouver BC Canada V6Z 1S4 
 
22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in 

the ordinary course of business that was entered into within the two years before 
the date of Listing Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

              None 
 
22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership 

agreement.  
              None 
 
23 Interest of Experts 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a Related 

Person of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or company whose 
profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or 
company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of the Listing 
statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in 
the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company 

referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any Related Person 
of the Issuer. 

 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a 

general statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
 

23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company 
referred to in section 23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed 
as a director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of 
the Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation.  
 
The audited financial statements included in this Form 2A have been subject to 
an audit by Davidson and Company LLP (“Davidson’s”), and their audit report is 
included herein. Davidson’s is independent in accordance with the Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of 
British Columbia. 
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The opinion under the section “Eligibility for Investment” provided for the 
Company’s prospectus has been provided by Koffman Kalef LLP. Koffman Kalef 
LLP which holds no interest in the Company.  

 
              
 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are 

not disclosed under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the Listing 
Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to 
the Issuer and its securities. 

 
             There are no other material facts relating to the Company other than 

disclose herein. 
 
 
25. Financial Statements  
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
              See “Schedule A “attached 
 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required 
to be prepared and filed under applicable securities legislation for the 
preceding three years as if the Issuer were subject to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the 

current fiscal year. 
 

25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements as if the target were the Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving effect 
to the transaction for: 

 
(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  

Annual Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the fiscal 
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year ended December 31, 2020 are attached as Schedule B. 

The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who 
is a promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-
qualifying following a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed by 
the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a promoter of the target and two directors 
of the target. 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Scotch Creek Ventures 
Inc., hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  
The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
(full legal name of the Issuer). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does 
not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent 
a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in 
which it was made. 

Dated at  Vancouver  

this 29th day of April, 2021. 

 

“Dave Ryan”  “Logan Anderson” 

CEO/Director/Promoter  Chief Financial Officer/Director 
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APPENDIX A: MINERAL PROJECTS 
 

(1) Property Description and Location – Describe: 
                See 43-101(Schedule C) dated December 30, 2017 filed on Sedar 
for full details. 

 
(a) the area (in hectares or other appropriate units) and location of the 

property;  
        The Cupz Property consists of 39 unpatented lode mining claims in 

Esmeralda County, Nevada. The existing Cupz Property covers 806 
acres in the Cuprite Hills District.  

 
(b) the nature and extent of the Issuer's title to or interest in the property, 

including surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the 
property and the expiration date of claims, licences and other property 
tenure rights;  

       The Company an undivided 100% interest in the claims. The Company 
must pay annual BLM fees of approximately $11,000.00 per annum. 
There is no term on the claims. 

 
(c) the terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other 

agreements and encumbrances to which the property is subject;                                            
        There is a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”) royalty to Curellie on 14 

of the claims (No. 1-14). The Company may at anytime reduce the 
royalty to 2% by paying $500,000 to Curellie or to 1% by paying 
$1,000,000.  

 
(d) all environmental liabilities to which the property is subject; 
        The Company is required to restore the drill sites by seeding. 
        The Company has reserved the funds to do this. 

 
(e) the location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral 

reserves and mine workings, existing tailings ponds, waste deposits 
and important natural features and improvements; and 

        None 
 

(f) to the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the 
work proposed for the property and whether permits have been 
obtained; 

        None at this time. 
 

(2) Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography – 
Describe: 
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(a) the means of access to the property; 
        Highway and gravel road, see 43-101, Schedule C  

 
(b) the proximity of the property to a population centre and the nature of 

transport; The nearest supply center is Tonopah, Nevada. Tonopah 
offers food, lodging, fuel, and some exploration services. While Las 
Vegas is a much larger town, Reno is the major supply center for 
exploration and mining activities in Nevada. See 43-101, Schedule C 

 
 

 (c) to the extent relevant to the mining project, the climate and length of 
the operating season; The project area is located at an elevation of 
about 5800 feet (1770 meters) in the Basin and Range physiographic 
province. The area has hot dry summers and cool winters. See 43-101 

        Schedule C. 
 

 
(d) the sufficiency of surface rights for mining operations, the  availability 

and sources of power, water, mining personnel, potential tailings 
storage areas, potential waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas 
and potential processing plant sites; and N/A 

 
(e) the topography, elevation and vegetation; The property is in rugged 

terrain consisting of moderate slopes, rugged rocky ridges, and alluvial 
fans dissected by dry stream channels. Elevations range from 1676 
meters (5500 feet) on the lower slopes to about 1885 meters (6185 
feet) on the crest of the ridge. Vegetation is minimal consisting 
primarily of desert scrub, cacti, and Joshua trees (a giant Yucca). See 
43-101, Schedule C 

 
 

 
(3) History - Describe: 

 
(a) the prior ownership  of the property and ownership changes and the 

type, amount, quantity and results of the exploration work undertaken 
by previous owners,  and any previous production on the property, to 
the extent known; See 43-101 Schedule C 

 
(b) if a property was acquired within the three most recently completed 

financial years of the Issuer or during its current financial year from, or 
is intended to be acquired by the Issuer from, an insider or promoter 
of the Issuer or an associate or affiliate of an insider or promoter, the 
name and address of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to the 
Issuer, and the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor; 
and  
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        The claims were acquired from Curellie LLC an arm’s length party for 
the first fourteen claims and the remaining 25 claims were staked 
directly by the Company. 

 
(c) to the extent known, the name of every person or company that has 

received or is expected to receive a greater than five per cent interest 
in the consideration received or to be received by the vendor referred 
to in subparagraph (b).  

         None 
 

(4) Geological Setting — The regional, local and property geology.  
Regionally, the Cupz project lies within the Walker Lane deformation zone, 
a distal reflection of the San Andres plate boundary structure. The oldest 
rocks in the region are pre-Cambrian sandstone, conglomerate, and 
limestone of the Deep Springs Formation. The pre-Cambrian sediments 
were likely deposited on crystalline continental basement. The overlying 
Cambrian sediments are part of a sequence of continental margin 
carbonates and clastics. See 43-101,Schedule C. 
 

 
(5) Exploration Information — The nature and extent of all exploration work 

conducted by, or on behalf of, the Issuer on the property, including: 
 

(a) the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and 
parameters relating to surveys and investigations; 

 
(b) an interpretation of the exploration information; 

 
(c) whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by the 

Issuer or a contractor and if by a contractor, identifying the contractor; 
and 

 
(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtained in the 

program. 
        In 2019 the Company completed a 4 hole reverse circulation drill 

program. The results of the drill sample assays indicate that the 
structural zone targeting was successful, and gold, silver, copper, zinc 
and arsenic results provide a distinct signature corresponding with 
quartz veining and clay alteration along the mineralized zone and fault 
zones. Possible metal zonation is suggested by the holes in the 
Harkless formation siltstone versus those in the Emigrant formation 
limestone. This zonation may also be related to the intrusion of the 
felsic and mafic dikes. 
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(6) Mineralization — The mineralization encountered on the property, the 
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailing length, 
width, depth and continuity together with a description of the type, character 
and distribution of the mineralization. See 43-101. 

 
(7) Drilling — The type and extent of drilling including the procedures followed 

and an interpretation of all results.  
        The Company completed 1,175 feet (358 metres) of drilling in four drill holes 

at the Cupz project in Esmeralda county, Nevada in 2019. Drilling was 
completed using a reverse circulation drill rig. The holes were oriented 
easterly to test the north-northeast-trending gold mineralized zone and the 
intersection of the mineralized zone with a west-northwest-trending fault 
zone.  

 
       The results of the drill sample assays indicate that the structural zone 

targeting was successful, and gold, silver, copper, zinc and arsenic results 
provide a distinct signature corresponding with quartz veining and clay 
alteration along the mineralized zone and fault zones. Possible metal 
zonation is suggested by the holes in the Harkless formation siltstone 
versus those in the Emigrant formation limestone. This zonation may also 
be related to the intrusion of the felsic and mafic dikes. No economic mineral 
values were encountered. 

      
 

(8) Sampling and Analysis — The sampling and assaying including: 
 

(a) a description of sampling methods and the location, number, type, 
nature, spacing and density of samples collected; 

 
(b) identification of any drilling, sampling or recovery factors that could 

materially impact the accuracy or reliability of the results; 
 

(c) a discussion of sample quality and whether the samples are 
representative of any factors that may have resulted in sample biases;  

 
(d) rock types, geological controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off 

grades and other parameters used to establish the sampling interval; 
and 

 
(e) quality control measures and data verification procedures.  
 
        
        Drill samples were collected every five feet, and geologic logging was 

completed on site. 
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       All drill samples were submitted to the Bureau Veritas Minerals (BV) 
laboratory in Reno, Nev. Sample preparation was completed in Reno. 
Analytical work was completed at the BV laboratories located in 
Vancouver, B.C., including ICP-MS analyses for base metals and trace 
elements, and gold determination by atomic absorption assay. 
Analytical results are subject to industry standard and National 
Instrument 43-101-compliant quality assurance/quality control sample 
procedures at the laboratory, as described by BV. 

 
         

 
(9) Security of Samples — The measures taken to ensure the validity and 

integrity of samples taken.  
         Above 

 
(10) Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves — The mineral resources and 

mineral reserves, if any, including:  
        None to all. 

 
(a) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources 

and mineral reserves; 
 

(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the 
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and 

 
(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral 

reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, 
permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political 
and other relevant issues. 

 
(11) Mining Operations — For development properties and production 

properties, the mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, 
markets, contracts for sale of products, environmental conditions, taxes, 
mine life and expected payback period of capital. N/A 

 
(12) Exploration and Development — A description of the Issuer's current and 

contemplated exploration or development activities, to the extent they are 
material. 

        None. The Company is looking at new potential properties in Nevada. 
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SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

 

ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 



 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. 

 
 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (the “Company”), which 

comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements 

of operations and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that during the year ended 

December 31, 2020 the Company incurred a net loss of $211,255 (2019 - $165,029), and as at December 31, 2020, had an 

accumulated deficit of $601,105 (December 31, 2019 - $389,850). The Company estimates that it will need additional capital 

to operate for the upcoming year. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 



We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have  

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 

control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Glenn Parchomchuk. 

 
 

 
 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

March 25, 2021 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 
 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

AS AT DECEMBER 31 
 

 
  

2020 
  

2019 

 

ASSETS 
   

Current    

Cash $ 33,984 $ 6,238 
Accounts receivable 15,654  16,872 

Total Current Assets 49,638  23,110 

 
Exploration and Evaluation Assets (Note 6) 

 
260,625 

  
247,622 

 
Total Assets 

 
$ 310,263 

 
$ 

 
270,732 

 

LIABILITIES 

   

Current    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9) $ 135,719 $ 79,099 
Promissory Notes (Note 7) 91,000  20,000 

 226,719  99,099 
Long Term    

Promissory Notes (Note 7) 25,000  60,000 

EQUITY 
   

Share Capital (Note 8) 627,208  478,997 
Reserves 32,441  22,486 
Deficit (601,105)  (389,850) 

Total Equity 58,544  111,633 

 
Total Liabilities and Equity 

 
$ 310,263 

 
$ 

 
270,732 

NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS (Note 1) 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 12) 

 
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors on March 26, 2021. They were signed on the Company’s behalf by: 

 
  “David Ryan”  

 
  “Logan Anderson”  

Director Director 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 
 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 
 FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED 
DECEMBER 31 

FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 

DECEMBER 31 

 
2020 

 
2019 

 
Expenses 

   

Bank charges and interest $ 8,404 $ 6,240 
Directors’ fees (Note 9) 12,000  12,000 
Office and miscellaneous 15,917  19,012 
Management fees (Note 9) 120,000  105,000 
Professional fees 31,023  21,865 
Rent (Note 9) 12,000  - 
Share-based payments (Note 8) 9,955  - 
Travel   1,956   912  

   $ 211,255  $  165,029  

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the Year $ (211,255) $ (165,029) 

 
Loss Per Common Share, Basic and Diluted 

 
$ (0.01) 

 
$ 

 
(0.01) 

 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares 
Outstanding-Basic and Diluted 

 
15,549,265 

  
13,835,000 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 

FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 

 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER 31 

 2020  2019 

 
Cash Provided By (Used In): 

   

Operating Activities    

Net loss for the year $ (211,255) $ (165,029) 

Share-based payments 9,955  - 

Interest expense 8,183  5,690 

Net changes in non-cash operating working capital items: 

Accounts receivable 1,218  (10,234) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 163,437  (5,299) 

 (28,462)  (174,972) 

Financing Activities    

Proceeds from promissory notes 36,000  60,000 

Repayment of promissory notes -  (35,000) 

Interest paid -  (5,690) 

Broker warrants exercised 33,211  - 

 69,211  19,310 

Investing Activities    

Exploration and evaluation assets (13,003)  (130,284) 

 (13,003)  (130,284) 

 
Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash 

 
27,746 

  
(285,946) 

Cash, Beginning of Year 6,238 
 

292,184 

 
Cash, End of Year 

 
$ 33,984 

 
$ 

 
6,238 

 
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosure 

   

Shares issued for debt settlement (Note 8) $ 115,000  - 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND DECEMBER 31, 2019 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
 
 

  SHARE CAPITAL       TOTAL 

 COMMON 
                                                                            SHARES  

AMOUNT RESERVES  DEFICIT  EQUITY 

Balance December 31, 2018 13,835,000 $ 478,997 $ 22,486 $ (224,821) $ 276,662 

Net loss for the year - 
 

- - 
 

(165,029) 
 

(165,029) 

Balance December 31, 2019 13,835,000 $ 478,997 $ 22,486 $ (389,850) $ 111,633 

 
Balance December 31, 2019 

 
13,835,000 

 
$ 

 
478,997 

 
$ 22,486 

 
$ 

 
(389,850) 

 
$ 

 
111,633 

Share-based payments - 
 

- 9,955 
 

- 
 

9,955 
Shares issued to settle debt 1,437,500  115,000 -  -  115,000 
Broker warrants exercised 276,765  33,211 -  -  33,211 

Net loss for the year -  - -  (211,255)  (211,255) 

Balance December 31, 2020 15,549,265 $ 627,208 $ 32,441 $ 601,105 $ 58,544 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 

a) Nature of Operations 
 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was originally incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act of British Columbia on January 9, 2017. The principal business of the Company 
is the acquisition and exploration of resource properties in North America. 

 
The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 1140, 625 
Howe Street, Vancouver BC, V6C 2T6, Canada. 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in Canadian dollars which 
is the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiary. 

 

b) Continuance of Operations 
 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. 
This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public 
health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets 
globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict 
the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s 
business or ability to raise funds. 

 
At the date of the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not identified a known 
body of commercial grade mineral on any of its properties. The Company’s continuing operations 
as intended are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of, a 
participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses. Such an acquisition will be 
subject to regulatory approval and may be subject to shareholder approval. In order to continue 
as a going concern and meet its corporate objectives, the Company will require additional 
financing through debt or equity issuances or other available means. There is no assurance that 
the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such financing will be 
on terms advantageous to the Company. 

 

Management is actively targeting sources of additional financing through alliances with financial, 
exploration and mining entities, and other business and financial transactions which would ensure 
continuation of the Company’s operation and exploration programs. In addition, management 
closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, individual equity movements, and the stock 
market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company if favorable or 
adverse market conditions occur. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred a net loss of $211,255 (2019 - 
$165,029) and as at December 31, 2020 had an accumulated deficit of $601,105 (December 31, 
2019 - $389,850). The Company estimates that it will need additional capital to operate for the 
upcoming year. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS(Continued) 
 

c) Statement of Compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”). 

 
These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 26, 
2021. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

a) Basis of measurement 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except 
for financial instruments which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are 
measured at fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting, except for the cash flow information. 

 
b) Principles of consolidation 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the balances and results of the Company and 
those entities over which the Company exercises control. Control is achieved where the 
Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain the benefits from its operations. 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary Scotch Creek Ventures (NV) Inc. All 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. Unless 
otherwise indicated, all amounts are reported in Canadian dollars. 

 
c) Significant accounting estimates and judgments 

 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain 
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statement and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. The consolidated financial 
statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such 
estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements and may require 
accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. These estimates are based on historical experience, current 
and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

Critical accounting estimates: 

• The carrying value and the recoverability of mineral properties; 

• Share-based payments; and 

• Deferred income taxes. 

 

Critical accounting judgments: 
 

Examples of significant judgments, apart from those involving estimation, include: 
 

• The accounting policies for mineral properties; and 

• Assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 

 

a) Mineral properties 
 

Mineral properties are carried at cost. The Company is an early stage exploration company 
with no known mineral reserves or production. 

 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs directly related to mineral properties, 
are capitalized, in addition to acquisition costs. These direct expenditures include such costs 
as materials used, staking costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors. Costs not 
directly attributable to mineral properties, including general administration and overhead costs 
are expensed in the period in which they occur. 

 
The Company may enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will transfer part 
of a mineral interest, as consideration for an agreement by the transferee to meet certain 
mineral properties expenditures which would have otherwise been undertaken by the 
Company. The Company will not record any expenditure made by the farmee on its behalf. 
Any cash consideration received from the agreement will be credited against the costs 
previously capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Company, with any excess or 
shortfall of cash accounted for as a gain or loss. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Expenditures for each mineral property are carried forward as an asset provided that one of 
the following conditions is met: 

 

i) Such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and 
exploration of the mineral property or alternatively, by sale; or 

 
ii) Activities in the mineral property have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves, however active and 
significant operations in relation to the mineral property are continuing, or planned for the 
future. 

 
The carrying values of capitalized amounts are reviewed annually, or when indicators of 
impairment are present. In the case of undeveloped properties, there may be only inferred 
resources to allow management to form a basis for the impairment review. The review is 
based on the Company’s intentions for the development of such a property. If a mineral 
property does not prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with the property are 
charged to profit or loss at the time the determination is made. 

 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has 
been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 
classified as “mining assets”. Mineral property expenditures accumulated are also tested for 
impairment before the costs are transferred to development properties. 

 
 

b) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of 
the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated 
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. For 
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash- 
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an 
amount that does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 



SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
 

c) Loss per share 

 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted loss 
per share is computed similar to basic loss per share except that the weighted average shares 
outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock 
options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming 
that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that proceeds from such 
exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price during the 
reporting periods. Since the Company has losses, the exercise of outstanding stock options 
and warrants has not been included in this calculation as it would be anti-dilutive. 

 
d) Income taxes 

 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is 
the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards 
to previous years. 

 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. The following temporary differences do not result in deferred tax assets or 
liabilities: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The 
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement 
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the date of the statement of financial position. 

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
 

e) Provisions 

 
Provisions are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. The Company records a 
provision when and only when: 

 

i) The Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
 

ii) It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation; and 

 

iii) A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental 
disturbances caused by exploration activities. The Company records the present value of the 
estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites 
in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of the rehabilitation activities 
include restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 

 
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to 
government laws and regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the 
estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. 
Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value based on 
current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 

 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as 
additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which they 
occur. 

 
The Company does not have any rehabilitation obligations. 

 
 

f) Financial instruments 

 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial 
position when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial 
recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or a financial liability at its fair value plus 
or minus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial liability not at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset or the financial liability. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
Financial assets 

 
The Company classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss, based on its 
business model for managing the financial asset and the financial asset’s contractual cash 
flow characteristics. The three categories are defined as follows: 

 

i) Amortized cost - a financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

 

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income - financial assets are classified and 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held in a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets. 

 

iii) Fair value through profit or loss - any financial assets that are not held in one of the two 
business models mentioned are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

When, and only when, the Company changes its business model for managing financial 
assets it must reclassify all affected financial assets. 

 
The Company’s financial assets are comprised of cash, and accounts receivables. Cash is 
measured at fair value and accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
promissory notes, which are all measured at amortized cost. After initial recognition, an entity 
cannot reclassify any financial liability. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Impairment 
 

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with 
its debt instruments carried at amortized cost and fair value through other comprehensive 
income. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. For receivables, the Company applies the simplified 
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from 
initial recognition of the receivables. 

 

g) Share-based payments 

 
The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the 
individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes or provides services similar to those 
performed by an employee. 

 

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period. Consideration paid for the 
shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital. 

 
In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 
goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 
they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-based 
payments are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received. 

 

h) Warrants issued in equity financing transactions 
 

The Company engages in equity financing transactions to obtain the funds necessary to 
continue operations and explore and evaluate mineral properties. These equity financing 
transactions may involve issuance of common shares or units. A unit comprises a certain 
number of common shares and a certain number of share purchase warrants (“Warrants”). 
Depending on the terms and conditions of each equity financing agreement (“Agreement”), 
the warrants are exercisable into additional common shares prior to expiry at a price stipulated 
by the Agreement. 

 
Warrants that are part of units are assigned value using the residual value method and 
included in share capital with the common shares that were concurrently issued. The residual 
value method first allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value 
and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be the 
more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined by the 
closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was allocated to the 
attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as a warrant reserve. 

 
Warrants that are issued as payment for agency fees or other transactions costs are 
accounted for as share-based payments. 

 
 

i) Related party transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in the making of financial 
and operating decisions. 

 
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related 
parties. 

 
 

j) Change in accounting policies 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company adopted certain new accounting 
standards and pronouncements, none of which had a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

There are no other standards or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the Company. 
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4. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 
 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may issue 
new shares through private placements, sell assets to reduce debt or return capital to 
shareholders. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. There 
were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 

 
 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company thoroughly examines the various financial instrument risks to which it is 
exposed and assesses the impact and likelihood of those risks. These risks may include 
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and currency risk and price risk. The carrying value 
of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their fair value due to their short-term 
nature. 

 
a) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Current financial assets and financial 
liabilities are generally not exposed to interest rate risk because of their short-term maturity. 

 

b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Company if the counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s credit risk is primarily 
attributable to its liquid financial assets including cash. The Company limits exposure to credit 
risk on liquid financial assets through maintaining its cash with high-credit quality financial 
institutions. The Company’s cash is held with a major Canadian based financial institution. 
Receivables consist of goods and services tax due from the government of Canada. 
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

c) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk arises from the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due 
at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 
readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements. The Company addresses 
its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares and the 
exercise of warrants and options. While the Company has been successful in securing 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. As at 
December 31, 2020, the Company held cash of $33,984 to settle current liabilities of 
$226,719. 

 
 

d) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company operates in Canada 
and is not exposed to currency risk. 

 

e) Price risk 
 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The ability of the 
Company to explore its mineral properties and future profitability of the Company are directly 
related to the market price of commodities. The Company monitors commodity prices to 
determine appropriate actions to be undertaken. 

 

f) Fair value 
 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 
value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair 
values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 
The fair value of cash is measured based on level 1 inputs of the fair value hierarchy. 
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

   CUPZ CLAIMS  

Property acquisition costs  

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 34,275 
Additions - Claims maintenance   9,982  

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 44,257 

Additions - Claims maintenance   10,390  

Balance December 31, 2020 $ 54,647 

 

Deferred exploration expenditures 
  

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 83,063 

Additions during the year 
  

Geochemistry  29,019 
Drilling  69,642 

Assays    21,641   

  120,302 

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 203,365 

Additions - Drilling   2,613   

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 205,978 

 
Total balance, December 31, 2019 

 
$ 

 
247,622 

 
Total balance, December 31, 2020 

 
$ 

 
260,625 

 
 

Cupz Claims 
 

On July 12, 2017, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with Curellie LLC (“Curellie”) 
of Elko Nevada to acquire a 100% undivided interest in the Cupz unpatented lode claims (Cupz 
1-14) located in Esmeralda County Nevada USA. 

 

The terms of the agreement are an outright purchase of the property for $17,000 with a 3% net 
smelter return (“NSR”) royalty to Curellie. 

 

The Company may at anytime reduce the royalty to 2% by paying $500,000 to Curellie or to 1% 
by paying $1,000,000. 
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7. PROMISSORY NOTES 
 

On March 26, 2020, the Company issued a $11,000 promissory note to a Company that is 
controlled by a Director. The note bears interest at a rate of 10% and is payable on demand. 
This note was repaid after the year end plus interest of $925. 

 

On April 21, 2020, the Company issued a $25,000 promissory note to an arm’s length party which 
bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due on or before April 21, 2022. 

 
On October 17 and October 23, 2019, the Company issued two promissory notes for $30,000 
each to arm’s length parties. The notes bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum and are due on 
March 17, 2021 and April 23, 2021. 

 

On May 23, 2018, the Company issued a two-year promissory note to an arm’s length party for 
$20,000 which bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due on or before May 23, 2020. 
This note has not been repaid as at December 31, 2020. 

 

On June 28, 2018, the Company entered into two loan agreements (the “Loans”) and issued 
promissory notes pursuant to the Loans for a total of $35,000. Under the terms of the Loans, 
each note bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due within eighteen months from the 
date of the agreement. The loans entitled the lenders to convert any portion of the loans into 
common shares of the Company at a price of $0.12 per share at any time prior to the due date. 
The two loans were repaid in the year ended 2019. 

 
 

8. EQUITY 
 

Share Capital 
 

a) Authorized 

Unlimited common shares, without par value. 
Unlimited preferred shares, without par value. 

 
b) Issued 

 
No preferred shares were issued and outstanding during in the years ended December 31, 2020 
and December 31, 2019. 

 
Issued during the year ended December 31, 2020: 

 
On July 8, 2020 the Company settled outstanding indebtedness (pertaining to current services 
provided) in the amount of $115,000 in exchange for 1,437,500 common shares of the Company 
at a price of $0.08 per common share. The debt settlement arrangements include Directors and 
Officers of the Company, and associated companies of Directors and Officers totalling $105,000. 
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8. EQUITY (Continued) 

 

 

Share Capital (Continued) 
 

The Company issued 276,765 shares pursuant to the exercise of broker warrants at $0.12 per 
share for a total of $33,212. 

 

No shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 

c) Escrowed shares 
 

A total of 3,700,001 common shares were subject to escrow. As at December 31, 2020 
1,110,001 remain held in escrow (December 31, 2019 – 2,220,001). The shares are released 
at a rate of 15% every 6 months from December 28, 2019. 

 
Share Purchase Warrants 

 

The changes in share purchase warrants outstanding are as follows: 
 

  Weighted 
 Number Average 
 of Warrants Exercise Price 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018 

 
3,297,450 

 
$ 0.10 

Broker Warrants exercised (276,765) 0.12 
Broker Warrants expired (20,685) 0.12 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 3,000,000 $ 0.12 

 
 

On January 21, 2019, the Company amended the terms of 3,000,000 share purchase warrants 
held by two directors of the Company. The expiration date of these warrants was extended from 
January 31, 2019 to January 31, 2021. In addition, the exercise price of these warrants was 
increased to $0.12 per share. The warrants were exercised subsequent to the year end. 

 
Stock Options 

 

On May 30, 2018, the Company adopted a Stock Option Plan (the "Stock Option Plan") providing 
for the grant to the Company’s officers, directors, employees, permitted consultants, and, 
management company employees, of options to purchase common shares of the Company. 
Under the Stock Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase up to 10% of the issued 
and outstanding shares of the Company. 

 
On July 15, 2020 the Company granted 1,400,000 stock options to Directors and Officers in 
accordance with the terms of the Company’s Stock Option Plan. The stock options are exercisable 
at $0.08 per share for a period of three years from the date of grant (July 15, 2023) and vest 
immediately. 
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8. EQUITY (Continued) 

 

 

Stock Options (Continued) 
 

The Company has recorded the fair value of all options granted using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. Share-based payment expense was calculated using the following weighted 
average assumptions: expected life of options - 3 years, expected stock price volatility – 12.00%, 
no dividend yield, and a risk-free interest rate yield – 0.29%. Using these assumptions, the fair 
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $0.007 per option, for a 
total of $9,955. 

 
  Weighted 
 Number Average 
 of Options Exercise Price 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018 

 
0 

 
$ 0.00 

Options granted (expire in July 15, 
2023) 

 
1,400,000 

 
0.08 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 1,400,000 $ 0.08 

 
 

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Key management personnel are the persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Company, and include both executive and non-executive directors, and 
entities controlled by such persons. The Company considers all directors and officers of the 
Company to be key management personnel. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred $120,000 (2019-$105,000) in 
management fees to two officers and directors of the Company. 

 

The Company also incurred a total of $12,000 (2019-$12,000) in directors’ fees to two 
independent directors. 

 
As at December 31, 2020, a total of $70,500 (2019- $49,500) was owing to the two independent 
directors and to two company’s controlled by officers and directors of the Company and is 
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

 

On January 21, 2019, the Company amended the terms of 3,000,000 share purchase warrants 
held by two directors of the Company. The expiration date of these warrants was extended from 
January 31, 2019 to January 31, 2021. In addition, the exercise price of these warrants was 

increased to $0.12 per share. These warrants were exercised subsequent to the year end. 

 
During the year ended the Company incurred $12,000 (2019-$Nil) in rent to a company controlled 
by two directors of the Company. 
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred a cost of $9,955 on the 
issuance of options to directors of the Company. 

 

The Company received a $6,000 interest free loan from a director of the Company that is 
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. It was repaid subsequent to the year end. 

 
 

10. INCOME TAXES 
 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows: 
 

 December 31, 
2020 

December 31, 
2019 

   

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (211,255) $ (165,029) 

Expected income tax recovery (57,000) (45,000) 

Share issuance costs – permanent difference 3,000 - 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary difference 54,000 45,000 

Total income tax recovery $ - $ - 

 
 

The Company’s combined federal and provincial tax rate applicable for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was 27%. 

 

The significant components of the Company’s unrecorded deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 

2020 
December 31, 

2019 

 
Share issuance costs 

 
$ 15,000 

 
$ 22,000 

Non-capital losses available for future periods 181,000 120,000 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (196,000) (142,000) 

Net deferred tax assets $ - $ - 
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10. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 

The significant components of the Company’s temporary differences and unused tax losses that 
have not been included on the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

  

December 31, 
2020 

Expiry 
Date 
range 

 

December 31, 
2019 

Expiry 
Date 
range 

Temporary Differences     

Share issuance costs $ 54,000 2040-2042 $ 82,000 2040-2042 

Non-capital losses available for 

future periods 

 
$ 672,000 

 
2037-2040 

 
$ 444,000 

 
2037-2039 

 

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities. 

 
 

11. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Company’s operations are limited to a single industry, being mining exploration and 
development. Geographic segment information of the Company’s total assets as at December 
31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 

 
   2020  2019   

Canada $ 49,638 $ 23,110 

USA   260,625  247,622   

Total assets   $ 310,263    $ 270,732   

 
 

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

On January 31, 2021 3,000,000 warrants at $0.12 were exercised by two directors of the 
Company for net proceeds of $360,000. 

 
On February 19, 2021 the Company announced a private placement financing of up to 5,000,000 
units (each a “Unit”) at $0.35 per Unit for gross proceeds of up to $1,750,000 (the “Offering”). 
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued) 

 
Each Unit consists of one common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant (each a 
“Warrant”), with each Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional common share for a 
period of 24 months from the date of the issue at an exercise price of $0.50 per share. The 
Company has the right to accelerate the expiry date of the Warrants if, at any time, the trading price 
of the Company’s common shares is equal to or greater than $1.00 for 10 consecutive 

trading days. In the event of acceleration, the expiry date will be accelerated to a date that is 15 
business days after the Company issues a news release announcing that it has elected to exercise 
this acceleration right. 

 
The Company may pay commissions to registered brokers or investment dealers (or to finders 
where permitted by law) of up to 7% cash and 7% warrants in connection with this offering. Finder’s 
Warrants will be exercisable at $0.50 for a period of 12 months from the date of issue. 

 
On March 2, 2021 the Company granted a total of 450,000 stock options to employees and 
consultants. The options were granted at a price of 45 cents per share and are exercisable 
for a period of three years from the date of grant. 



SCHEDULE B 

 

SCOTCH CREEK VENTURES INC. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 
 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. Year Ended December 31, 2020 Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
The following management discussion and analysis (MD&A), prepared as of March 26, 2021 
has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
The Company’s comparatives amounts in this MD&A have been presented in accordance with 
IFRS. All amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

 
The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to those financial statements, all of 
which are available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

 
Statements in this report that are not historical facts are forward looking statements involving 
known and unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to vary 
considerably from these statements. Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on 
forward looking statements. 

 
Additional information related to the Company is available for view on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 

 
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute “forward-looking statements”. Such 
forward-looking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company 
to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statements were 
made, and readers are advised to consider such forward-looking statements in light of the risks 
set forth below and as detailed under RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES in this MD&A. 

 
Risk factors that could affect the Company’s future results include, but are not limited to, risks 
inherent in mineral exploration and development and mining activities in general, volatility and 
sensitivity to market prices for commodities, changes in government regulation and policies 
including environmental regulations and reclamation requirements, receipt of required permits 
and approvals from governmental authorities, competition from other companies, ability to 
attract and retain skilled employees and contractors, and changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates. Further information regarding these and other factors which may cause results to differ 
materially from those projected in forward-looking statements are included in the Company’s 
filings with securities regulatory authorities. The Company does not undertake to update any 

http://www.sedar.com/
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forward-looking statement that may be made from time to time by the Company or on its behalf, 
except in accordance with applicable securities laws. 

 
MD&A PREPARATION 

 
This MD&A was prepared as of March 26, 2021 This MD&A should be read in conjunction the 
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. This MD&A is intended to 
assist the reader’s understanding of Scotch Creek Venture Inc. and its’ operations, business, 
strategies, performance and future outlook from the perspective of management. The 
documents mentioned above, as well as news releases and other important information may be 
viewed through the SEDAR website at www.SEDAR.com 

 
NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

 
Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was originally incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act of British Columbia on January 9, 2017. The principal business of the 
Company is the acquisition and exploration of resource properties in North America. 

 
The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 1140- 
625 Howe Street, Vancouver BC, V6C 2T6. 

 
On December 27, 2018, the Company listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”), and 
trades under the symbol “SCV” after the closing of a prospectus offering in December 2018. 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company held cash of $33,984 compared to $6,238 at 
December 31, 2019. 

 
Amounts capitalized into exploration and evaluation assets at December 31, 2020 totaled 
$260,625 and the amount at December 31, 2019 amounted to $247,622. 

 
The Company is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and, if warranted, development of 
mineral resource properties. 

 
On July 12, 2017, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with Curellie LLC 
(“Curellie”) of Elko Nevada to acquire a 100% undivided interest in the Cupz unpatented lode 
claims (Cupz 1-14) located in Esmeralda County Nevada USA. 

 
The terms of the agreement are an outright purchase of the property for $17,000 with a 3% net 
smelter return (“NSR”) royalty to Curellie. 

 
The Company may at anytime reduce the royalty to 2% by paying $500,000 to Curellie or to 1% 
by paying $1,000,000. 

 
As at December 31, 2020 and 2019 the Company had a 100% ownership of 39 Cupz claims 
covering approximately 806 acres. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company issued 1,437,500 shares at $0.08 in 
settlement of $115,000 in debt, and, 276,765 shares at $0.12 on the exercise of broker warrants 
for proceeds of $33,211. 

http://www.sedar.com/


On July 15, 2020 the Company granted 1,400,000 million stock options to Directors and Officers 
in accordance with the terms of the Company’s Stock Option Plan. The stock options are 
exercisable at $0.08 per share for a period of three years from the date of grant (July 15, 2023). 

 
The Company has recorded the fair value of all options granted using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. Share-based payment expense was calculated using the following weighted 
average assumptions: expected life of options - 3 years, expected stock price volatility – 
12.00%, no dividend yield, and a risk-free interest rate yield – 0.29%. Using these assumptions, 
the fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $0.06 per 
option, for a total of $9,955. 

 
The Company issued no shares during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 
On January 21, 2019, the Company amended the terms of 3,000,000 share purchase warrants 
held by two directors of the Company. The expiration date of these warrants was extended 
from January 31, 2019 to January 31, 2021. In addition, the exercise price of these warrants 
was increased to $0.12 per share. These warrants were exercised on January 31, 2021. 

 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

 
The following financial data prepared in accordance with IFRS stated in Canadian dollars is 
presented as at December 31, 2020, 2019, and, 2018: 

 

 
 
For the Years ended 

Year ended 
December 

31, 2020 

Year ended 
December 

31, 2019 

Year ended 
December 

31, 2018 

Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - 

Net loss for the year $ 211,255 $ 165,029 117,579 
      

Total Assets $ 310,263 $ 270,732 $ 416,160 

Total Liabilities $ 251,719 $ 159,099 $ 139,498 

Cash Dividends per share $ - $ - - 

Basic and diluted loss per 
share 

 
$ 

 
0.01 

 
$ 

 
0.01 

 
$ 0.01 

 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

 
 FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED 
DECEMBER 

FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 

DECEMBER 

 31, 2020 31, 2019 

 
Expenses 

   

Bank charges and interest $ 8,404 $ 6,240 
Directors’ fees 12,000  12,000 
Office and miscellaneous 15,917  19,012 
Management fees 120,000  105,000 



Professional fees 31,023  21,865 

Rent 
Share-based payments 

12,000 
9,955 

 - 
- 

Travel   1,956   912  

    $ 211,255  $  165,029   

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the 
Year 

 
$ (211,255) 

 
$ 

 
(165,029) 

 
Loss Per Common Share, Basic and Diluted 

 
$ (0.01) 

 
$ 

 
(0.01) 

 

Weighted Average Number of Common 
Shares Outstanding-Basic and Diluted 

 
15,549,165 

  
13,835,000 

 

The Company incurred a net loss and comprehensive loss of $211,255 during the year ended 
December 31, 2020, compared to a net loss and comprehensive loss of $165,029 for the year 
ended December 31, 2019. 

 
The most significant differences in expenses incurred in the year ended December 31, 2020 
and the year ended December 31, 2019 are discussed below: 

 
Management fees increased to $120,000 (2019 - $105,000), due to the increased involvement 
of management in the exploration program, fund raising, and running the day to day affairs of a 
public company. 

 
Professional fees increased to $31,023 (2019 – $21,865) due the increase activity in due 
diligence on potential new property acquisitions and potential funding alternatives. 

 
Office and Miscellaneous decreased slightly to $15,917 (2019- $19,012) and relates to the 
expenses of supplying and maintaining an office. 

 
Rent increased to $12,000 (2019- $nil) as the Company moved into new office space. 

 
Share-based payments increased to $9,955 (2019- $nil) as the Company issued options in the 
current year. 

 
Travel increased to $1,956 (2019 - $912) as a result of increased management travel and 
entertainment in connection with fund raising and investor meetings. 

 
All other expenses were generally consistent with the amounts incurred in the comparative 
period. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred $13,003 (2019 - $130,284) of 
exploration or evaluation expenditures on the Cupz Property. 



THE CUPZ PROPERTY 

 
The Cupz Property consists of 39 unpatented lode mining claims in Esmeralda County, Nevada. 
The existing Cupz Property covers 806 acres in the Cuprite Hills District. 

 
On July 12, 2017, the Company entered into the Cupz Property Purchase Agreement with the 
Vendor whereby the Vendor sold the Company an undivided 100% interest in 14 claims (Cupz-1 
to Cupz-14) of the Cupz Property. The Company acquired these claims for the sum of $17,000. 
The Company staked the 25 additional claims (Cupz 15 to Cupz 39) in November 2017 to cover 
targets revealed by summer – fall exploration work of which the Company is the beneficial 
holder and Curellie LLC the registered holder. The Cupz Property as a whole consists of a 
contiguous block of 39 claims (Cupz 1 to Cupz 39), covering about 806 acres. The Company 
holds the Cupz Property outright with no underlying leases. 

 
Discussion of the Cupz Property 

 
During the year ended the Company paid BLM fees of $10,390 to maintain the Cupz claims and 
$2,613 for assays from the last drill program. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company completed a drill program on the Cupz 
property. The Company is analyzing the results and consulting with its geologist to determine 
the next exploration program. 

 
The NI43-101 report is available at www.sedar.com . 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 
 2020 2019 

   

 31-Dec 30-Sept 30-June 31-March 31-Dec 30-Sept 30-June 31-Mar 

Revenues $ Nil $ Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Loss before 
other items 

$ 52,250 $ 136,811 $ 46,176 $ 46,963 $ 53,578 $ 45,193 $ 39,839 
 

26,419 

Share based 
Adjustment 

 $ (70,945)       

Net Loss $ 52,250 $ 65,866 $ 46,176 $ 46,963 $ 53,478 $ 45,193 $ 39,839 $ 26,419 

Loss per 
share- basic 
and diluted 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

 
$ (0.00) 

Shares 
Outstanding 

15,549,265 15,272,500 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 13,835,000 

 
 

The Company reported a net loss of $52,250 for the three month period ended December 31, 
2020 compared to $53,478 for the comparable three month period ended December 31, 2019. 
The basic loss per share for the three month period ended December 31, 2020 was ($0.00) 
versus ($0.00) for the comparable period of 2019. 

http://www.sedar.com/


FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019 

 
 Three Months Ended Three months Ended 
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

 
Expenses 

   

Bank charges and interest $ (451) $ 4,309 
Directors’ fees 3,000  3,000 
Office and miscellaneous 3,561  7,877 
Management fees (Note 11) 30,000  30,000 
Professional fees 12,539  8,392 
Rent 3,000  - 
Travel and Entertainment   601   -  

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the period     $ 52,250  $ 53,578   

 
The most significant differences in expenses incurred in the three month periods ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 are discussed below: 

 
Professional fees increased to $12,539 in 2020 (2019- $ 8,392) due to the increased activity in 
due diligence on potential new property acquisitions and potential funding alternatives. 

 
Office and Miscellaneous decreased to $3,561 (2019- $7,877) and relates to the cost of the 
office. 

 
Bank charges and interest decreased to ($451) (2019- $4,309) as the Company had over 
accrued interest in the previous periods. 

 
Rent increased to $3,000 (2019- $ Nil) as the Company moved into new office space. 

Management Fees remained unchanged at $30,000 (2019 - $30,000). 

Travel and Entertainment increased to $601 (2019 - $ Nil) due to an increase in investor related 
activities. 

 
All other expenses were generally consistent with the amounts incurred in the comparative 
period. 

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
The Company is engaged in mineral exploration and has no cash flow from operations. 

 
The Company must rely on equity financing, loans and/or advances to meet its administrative 
and overhead expenses and to pursue its objectives. At December 31, 2020 the Company held 
cash of $33,984 (2019 - $6,238), had accounts receivable, consisting of GST recoverable and 
accounts receivable of $15,654 (December 31, 2019 – $16,872). The Company had current 
liabilities of $226,719 (December 31, 2019 - $99,099). At December 31, 2020, the Company 
had a working capital deficiency of $177,921 (December 31, 2019 a deficiency of – $75,989). 



The Company believes that the current capital resources are not sufficient to pay for continued 
mineral exploration and overhead expenses for the next twelve months and will need to seek 
additional funding or find joint venture partners on its project. Depending upon the exploration 
results the Company may seek additional funding or seek joint venture partners on its project. 
The Company will continue to monitor the current economic and financial market conditions and 
evaluate their impact on the Company’s liquidity and future prospects. 

 
Since the Company will not be able to generate cash from its operations in the foreseeable 
future, the Company will have to rely on the issuance of shares or the exercise of options, 
warrants and loans to fund ongoing operations and investment. The ability of the Company to 
raise capital will depend on market conditions and it may not be possible for the Company to 
issue shares on acceptable terms or at all. 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the primary assets of the Company comprise cash of $6,238 and 
other receivables comprising GST recoverable and accounts receivable of $16,872 and its 
mineral property holding which is valued at $247,622. As of December 31, 2019, the Company 
had a working capital deficiency of $75,989. 

 
On March 26, 2020, the Company issued a $11,000 promissory note to a Company that is 
controlled by a Director. The note bears interest at a rate of 10% and is payable on demand. 
This note was repaid after the yearend plus interest of $925.00. 

 
On April 21, 2020, the Company issued a $25,000 promissory note to an arm’s length party 
which bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due on or before April 21, 2022. 

 
On October 17 and October 23, 2019, the Company issued two promissory notes for $30,000 
each to arm’s length parties. The notes bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum and are due on 
April 17, 2021 and April 23, 2021. 

 
On May 23, 2018, the Company issued a two-year promissory note to an arm’s length party for 
$20,000 which bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due on or before May 23, 2020. 
This note has not been repaid as at December 31, 2020. 

 
On June 28, 2018, the Company entered into two loan agreements (the “Loans”) and issued 
promissory notes pursuant to the Loans for a total of $35,000. Under the terms of the Loans, 
each note bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum and is due within eighteen months from the 
date of the agreement. The Loans entitled the lenders to convert any portion of the Loans into 
common shares of the Company at a price of $0.12 per share at any time prior to the due date. 
The two loans were repaid in the year ended 2019. 

 
OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements to which the Company is committed. 

 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 
Related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 



Key management personnel are the persons responsible for the planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company, and include both executive and non-executive 
directors, and entities controlled by such persons. The Company considers all directors and 
officers of the Company to be key management personnel. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred $120,000 (2019-$105,000) in 
management fees to two officers and directors of the Company. 

 
The Company also incurred a total of $12,000 (2019-$12,000) in directors’ fees to two 
independent directors. 

 
As at December 31, 2020, a total of $104,021 (2019- $49,500) was owing to the two 
independent directors and to two Company’s controlled by officers and directors of the 
Company and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

 
On January 21, 2019, the Company amended the terms of 3,000,000 share purchase warrants 
held by two directors of the Company. The expiration date of these warrants was extended 
from January 31, 2019 to January 31, 2021. In addition, the exercise price of these warrants 
was increased to $0.12 per share. These warrants were exercised subsequent to the year end. 

 
During the year ended the Company incurred $12,000 (2019-$Nil) in rent to a Company 
controlled by two directors of the Company. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company incurred a cost of $9,955 on the 
issuance of options to directors of the Company. 

 
The Company received a $6,000 interest free loan from a director of the Company which was 
repaid subsequent to the yearend. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and promissory notes payable. 

 
The fair value of these financial instruments approximate carrying value due to their short term 
maturities. 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company examines the various financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and 
assesses the impact and likelihood of those risks. These risks may include currency, credit, 
interest rate, liquidity, and commodity price risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed 
and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

 
a) Currency Risk 

 
The Company’s functional currency and the reporting currency is the Canadian dollar 
(“CDN$”). Periodically, the Company incurs charges on its operations for settlement in 
currencies other than its functional currency and any gain or loss arising on such 



transactions is recorded in operations for the year. 
 

The Company holds an interest in 39 unpatented mining claims located in the USA. As a 
result, the Company is subject to foreign currency and exchange risk on the translation of 
these transactions and year end balances to the reporting currency. Any gains or losses 
arising in the period are included in operations for the year. 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the fluctuations in the USD$ relative to the CDN$ have not had 
a significant impact on the Company. 

 

b) Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s cash is held in 
reputable Canadian financial institutions. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to cash is remote. 

 
c) Interest Rate Risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The risk that the Company will 
realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of cash and short-term investment is 
limited because the majority of the Company’s cash and short-term investment balances 
are held by a Canadian chartered bank and the Company has no bank debt. 

 

d) Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk arises from the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets 
due at any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain 
sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements. The 
Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of 
common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company has been 
successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do 
so in the future. As at December 31, 2020, the Company held cash of $33,984 to settle 
current liabilities of $226,719. 

 
e) Commodity Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity 
price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company's earnings due to 
movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock 
market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and 
economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. To mitigate price risk, 
the Company closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, individual equity 
movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 

 
f) Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

 
In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global 
pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any 



related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, 
economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It 
is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results 
of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

 
g) Going Concern 

 
At the date of the annual financial statements, the Company has not identified a known 
body of commercial grade mineral on any of its properties. The Company’s continuing 
operations as intended are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 
acquisition of, a participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses. Such an 
acquisition will be subject to regulatory approval and may be subject to shareholder 
approval. In order to continue as a going concern and meet its corporate objectives, the 
Company will require additional financing through debt or equity issuances or other 
available means. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate 
financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms advantageous to the 
Company. 

 
The Company examines the various financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and 
assesses the impact and likelihood of those risks. These risks may include currency, credit, 
interest rate, liquidity, and commodity price risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed 
and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

 
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the 
following notes: 

 
i) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. 
Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, after 
expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditures is unlikely, the amounts capitalized are written off to net income in the period the 
new information becomes available. 

 
ii) Impairment 

 
At each reporting period, assets, specifically exploration and evaluation assets, are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts 
exceed their recoverable amounts. The assessment of the carrying amount often requires 



estimates and assumptions such as discount rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, future 
capital requirements and future operating performance. 

 
 

 
iii) Share-based Payment Transactions 

 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair 
value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate 
valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. 

 
This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model, 
including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield, and making 
assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share- 
based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 8 of the financial statements. 

 
iv) Title to Mineral Property Interest 

 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an 
interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be 
subject to prior agreements or transfers, and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

 
v) Income Taxes 

 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s current understanding of the tax law. 
For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best 
estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax 
provision. 

 
Management believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these 
matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially different outcome than the 
amount included in the tax liabilities. 

 
In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to 
the extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to 
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses 
can be utilized. However, utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable 
entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped. 

 
vi) Rehabilitation Provision 

 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for rehabilitation is based on internal 
estimates. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been made which 
management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These 



estimates take into account any material changes to the assumptions that occur when reviewed 
regularly by management. 

 
Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current regulatory requirements. Significant 
changes in estimates will result in changes to provisions from period to period. Actual 
rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future market prices for the rehabilitation costs 
which will reflect the market conditions at the time when the rehabilitation costs are actually 
incurred. 

 
vii) Determination of Going Concern Assumption 

 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments 
regarding the going concern of the Company as previously discussed. 

 
OTHER INFORMATION 

 
Outstanding Share Data 
a) Authorized 

 
Unlimited common shares, without par value. 
Unlimited preferred shares, without par value. 

 
b) Issued 

 

As at March 26, 2021 18,549,265 common shares of the Company are issued and outstanding. 
 

No preferred shares were issued and outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019. 

 
Issued during the year ended December 31, 2020: 
On July 8, 2020 the Company settled outstanding indebtedness (pertaining to current services 
provided) in the amount of $115,000 in exchange for 1,437,500 common shares of the company 
at a price of $0.08 per common share. The debt settlement arrangements include Directors and 
Officers of the Company, and associated companies of Directors and Officers totalling 
$105,000. 

 
The Company issued 276,765 shares pursuant to the exercise of broker warrants at $0.12 per 
share for a total of $33,212. 

 
 

No shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 
 

Warrants and Options 

 
As at March 26, 2021 the following warrants and options are outstanding, 

 
 Weighted 

Number Average 
of Warrants Exercise Price 



Balance as at December 31, 2019 and 
2018 

 
3,297,450 

 
$ 0.10 

Broker Warrants exercised 276,765 0.12 
Broker Warrants expired 20,685 0.12 
Balance as at December 31, 2020 3,000,000 $ 0.12 
Warrants exercised 3,000,000 0.12 

Balance March 26, 2021 Nil Nil 
 

Notes: On January 21, 2019, the Company amended the terms of 3,000,000 share 
purchase warrants held by two directors of the Company. The expiration date of these 
warrants was extended from January 31, 2019 to January 31, 2021. In addition, the 
exercise price of these warrants was increased to $0.12 per share. The warrants were 
exercised subsequent to the yearend. 

 
On May 30, 2018, the Company adopted a Stock Option Plan (the "Stock Option Plan") providing 
for the grant to the Company’s officers, directors, employees, permitted consultants, and, 
management company employees, of options to purchase common shares of the Company. 
Under the Stock Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase up to10% of the issued 
and outstanding shares of the Company. On July 15, 2020 the Company granted 1,400,000 
million stock options to Directors and Officers in accordance with the terms of the Company’s 
Stock Option Plan. The stock options are exercisable at $0.08 per share for a period of three 
years from the date of grant (July 15, 2023). 

 

The Company has recorded the fair value of all options granted using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. Share-based payment expense was calculated using the following weighted 
average assumptions: expected life of options - 3 years, expected stock price volatility – 12.00%, 
no dividend yield, and a risk-free interest rate yield – 0.29%. Using these assumptions, the fair 
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $0.06 per option, for a 
total of $9,955. 

 
   Weighted 
 Number Price Average 
 of Options  Exercise Price 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018 

 
0 

  
$ 0.00 

Options granted (expire July 15, 2023) 1,400,000 0.08 0.08 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 1,400,000  $ 0.08 

Options granted (expire March 2,2024) 450,000 0.45 $ - 

Balance March 26, 2021 1,850,000  $ 0.17 

 
Escrowed shares 

 
Of a total of 3,700,001 common shares subject to escrow, 1,110,001 remain held in escrow as 
at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 – 2,220,001), which are being released at a rate of 
15% every 6 months from December 28, 2019 forward. 

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 
Limited Operating History 



The Company is in the early stages of mineral property exploration and development. As a 
result, it is difficult to evaluate the Company’s prospects, and its future success is more 
uncertain than if it had a longer or more proven history of operations. 

 
History of Losses 

 
The Company has incurred net losses every period since inception and as of December 31, 
2020, had an accumulated deficit of $601,105. 

 
No History of Dividends 

 
Since incorporation, the Company has not paid any dividends and does not expect to pay such 
dividends in the foreseeable future, as all available funds will be invested primarily to finance its 
mineral exploration programs. The Company will need to achieve profitability prior to any 
dividends being declared. 

 
Dilution 

 
The Company does not generate any revenues from operating and does not have sufficient 
financial resources to undertake by itself all of its planned activities. The Company has limited 
financial resources and has financed its operations primarily through the sale of securities such 
as common shares. The Company will need to continue its reliance on the sale of such 
securities for future financing, resulting in dilution to the Company’s existing shareholders. 

 
Capital and Liquidity Risk 

 
The amount of financial resources available to invest for the enhancement of shareholder value 
is dependent upon the size of the treasury, profitable operations, and a willingness to utilize 
debt and issue equity. 

 
In March 2020. the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global 
pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related 
adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial 
markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company 
to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the 
Company’s business or ability to raise funds. It has however directly impacted the Company by 
limiting travel to the exploration property and disrupting the financial markets of which the 
Company relies on for raising funds. 

 
Due to the size of the Company, financial resources are limited and if the Company exceeds 
growth expectations or finds investment opportunities it may require debt or equity financing. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain additional financial resources that 
may be required to successfully finance transactions or compete in its markets on favourable 
commercial terms. 

 
Dependence on Key Personnel 

 
Loss of certain members of the executive team or key operational leaders of the company could 
have a disruptive effect on the implementation of the Company’s business strategy and the 



efficient running of day-to-day operations until their replacement is found. Recruiting personnel 
is time consuming and expensive and the competition for professionals is intense. 

 
The Company may be unable to retain its key employees or attract, assimilate, retain or train 
other necessary qualified employees, which may restrict its growth potential. 
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Important Notice 
 

This report was prepared as a National Instrument 43-101 Technical Report in accordance with 

Form 43-101F1 for Scotch Creek Ventures Inc., by Alan J. Morris, CPG, QP. The quality of 

information, conclusions, and estimates contained herein is consistent with: 1.) information 

available at the time of preparation, 2.) data supplied by outside sources, and 3.) the 

assumptions, conditions, and qualifications set forth in this report. This report is intended for 

use by the property owners and is approved for filing as a Technical Report with Canadian 

Securities Regulators. 
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Certificate of Qualified Person 
 

To accompany the report entitled “NI-43-101 Technical Report, Cupz Project, Esmeralda 

County, Nevada, USA”, prepared for Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (SCVI) dated December 30, 

2017 with effective date December 30, 2017. 

I, Alan Jesse Morris, residing in Spring Creek, Nevada, USA do hereby certify that: 
 

1.) I am the principal geologist with Ruby Mountain GIS with an office at 237 Ashford Drive, 
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1.0 Summary 
 

1.1 Introduction 

Alan J. Morris, CPG was retained to prepare a technical report on the early stage Cupz Project. 

The purpose of the report is to summarize the location, general geology, and previous 

exploration on this property, and its viability as a Property of Merit for continued exploration. 

This report is intended to comply with the requirements of National Instrument 43-101 (NI 43- 

101). 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (SCVI), a British Columbia corporation, entered into a Purchase 

Agreement with Curellie LLC., a Nevada company, to explore and acquire the Cupz Project on 

July 12, 2017. The property position controlled by SCVI is outlined below and in further detail in 

Section 4. A complete list of the claims is included as Appendix 1. 

1.2 Property Location and History 

The property is in sections 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 21 and 22 of T4S R42E Mt. Diablo base and 

meridian (Figure 3). It is 13.6 road miles (22 km) southwest of Goldfield, Nevada, 278 miles 

(448 km) southeast of Reno or about 195 miles (314km) from Las Vegas, Nevada. Using a 

well-maintained county road, the project is easily reached from U.S. Highway 95, leaving the 

highway 6.2 miles (10 km) south of Goldfield, Nevada and traveling west then southward about 

6 miles (8 km) on the Mount Jackson road then turning east for about 1.4 miles (2.2 km) to the 

west property boundary. The property can also be accessed from highway 95 on the east side 

but the western route roads are in better condition. 

The center of the property is about 37° 35’ 24” North Latitude, 117° 15’ 21” West Longitude: 

UTM X 4,160,240 UTM Y 477,472 NAD 27; Zone 11 N. 
 

History 
 

Historically, the area lies within the Goldfield – Cuprite area known for abundant high sulfidation 

(acid leach) alteration and quartz-enargite gold veins. The alteration types and mineralization 

styles on the property do not follow this pattern. The rush to Goldfield in 1902 probably resulted 

in prospecting of the current Cupz property. The 1952 vintage USGS 15-minute series 

topographic map shows the road from the east side of the property ending at a pair of shafts 

west of the divide in the central part of section 15. This shows the workings were in place prior 

to about 1950. 

Cupz is a grass roots level property with limited historical information available. Several historic 

adits and shafts are located on the property, but the origin and exact dates of their excavation is 

not known. Modern disturbance indicative of reclaimed drill sites and access roads is observed 

on the property but exactly who did them or when is not clear. Two mining companies (BriCan 

and Comino-American) held claims in the current project area from 1984 – 1991. 
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Figure 1. Cupz Project: General Location Map (from Hunsaker, 2017) 
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Figure 2. Cupz Project: Access Map (claim outline from Hunsaker, 2017, USGS 1:100,000 base map) 
 

1.3 Geology and Mineralization 

The Cupz Project is located in the southern Walker Lane Mineral Belt within the Goldfield Hills in 

the historic Cuprite District. The Walker Lane is a major northwest-southeast-trending tectonic 

zone with dominantly right lateral faults that hosts a variety of precious metal and base metal 

mineral deposits (as well as geothermal activity) along its length (Hunsaker, 2017). Recent 

exploration and development work is identifying district scale, intrusive-related controls to gold 

mineralization in the early Paleozoic sediments. 
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The Cupz project was mapped using outcrop style mapping. Units were mapped using 

descriptions from Albers and Stewart (1972) and Crafford (2007) (Figures 4 and 7). Hand 

samples were collected from seven locations and sent to Wagner Petrographic to have thin 

sections made. Mike Ressel, Assistant Professor-Economic Geologist at the University of 

Nevada, Reno, looked at the thin sections to determine what minerals were present. 

The Cupz project lithology consists of Cambrian Harkless Formation, Cambrian Mule Spring 

Limestone, and Cambrian Emigrant Formation, listed oldest to youngest. Cupz has two intrusive 

events, mafic/lamprophyre dikes, and felsic dikes, which could be as young as Tertiary in age 

(Figure 7). The dikes are likely controlled by the major fault trends. 

There are three primary fault trends on the project. They are: north-south, north-northeast, and 

WNW/ESE. The WNW/ESE fault has down dropped the Emigrant Formation. 

Cupz has at least two overlapping mineralizing events. The widespread gold and copper 

bearing event appears to be to the southwest, predominantly associated with the felsic dikes, 

but sometimes related to the mafic/lamprophyre dikes. A base metal dominant (Cu, Pb, Zn, plus 

Ag) event postdates the felsic dikes. 

1.4 Exploration 

The property geology was mapped by Molly Hunsaker of Hunsaker Inc. 
 

Hunsaker Inc. took 72 rock samples on the Cupz Property (Figure 18). The rock samples were 

primarily collected from old dumps, adits, and prospects. Samples were analyzed by Bureau 

Veritas Minerals using a 30-gram fire assay with AAS finish for gold and ICP-MS analysis (4- 

acid digestion) for all other elements. Multiple certified reference standards were included with 

every submittal. The results were within acceptable ranges. 

Jim Wright was engaged to provide advice and interpretation for a gravity and ground magnetics 

survey. The survey area was laid out to extend beyond the initial 14 claims to provide sufficient 

data to identify major geologic features. 

1.5 Drilling 

While evidence of drilling exists on the property, no further information is available to date on 

historic drilling. 

1.6 Sample Preparation, Analysis, and Security 

After collection by the Hunsaker Inc. geologist, samples were kept in a locked vehicle or office 

until they were delivered to the Bureau Veritas preparation laboratory in Elko or Reno, Nevada 

and Vancouver, BC (ICP Run in Vancouver). Samples were analyzed by Bureau Veritas 

Minerals at their Reno, Nevada lab. Multiple certified reference standards were included with 

every submittal. The results were within acceptable ranges. Sample security, preparation, and 

analysis are consistent with industry norms and are adequate for exploration and evaluation 

purposes. 
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1.7 Data Verification 

The data set is in very good condition. Analytical certificates matched the electronic versions 

and values recorded in the provided database. 

1.8 Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing 

Not applicable. 

1.9 Mineral Resource Estimate 

Not applicable: work to date has not been directed at identifying resources. 
 

1.10 Conclusions and Recommendations 

The Cupz project is an early stage property of merit. The structure and lithology at Cupz may 

provide an ideal setting for a significant gold deposit. The work done so far has outlined 

anomalous gold (up to 3.87 ppm gold) and copper (>10% Cu) zones that warrant further 

exploration. Obvious drill targets are emerging and a property wide soil program with additional 

rock sampling and detailed geologic mapping will refine drill hole locations and expand the 

current target zones (Figure 25). 

The north-south, north-northeast, WNW/ESE fault trends and the dikes which likely are 

controlled by these faults are the current target zones. The highest gold values (3.9, 3.6, 2.2, 

and 1.4 ppm Au) were all associated with these zones near mafic/lamprophyre or felsic dikes. 

The geochemistry at Cupz suggests at least two overlapping mineralizing events. The 

widespread gold and copper bearing event appears to occur in the southwest, predominantly 

associated with the felsic dikes but sometimes related to the mafic/lamprophyre dikes. A base 

metal dominant (Cu, Pb, Zn, plus Ag) event postdates the felsic dikes. Further work is needed to 

evaluate the apparent zonation. Other geochemical associations include a Ag-Se suite that 

may be a separate event as well. 

The gravity data corresponds to the targeted structural/dike zones. The magnetics show 

multiple intrusive bodies that were not mapped, however a soils program could better define 

these zones. 
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The recommended work at Cupz will enhance and likely expand the gold target zones. 

Recommendations for continued work at Cupz are: 

1. Soil Sampling (Property wide ~ 440 soils) 
 

2. Additional rock sampling and detailed geologic mapping (Eastern Area) 
 

3. Drilling to test targets defined and refined by the geologic, geochemical, and geophysical 

work. 

The estimated cost of this program is $CDN 120,000. 

 
 

2.0 Introduction 

 

This report was prepared by Alan Jesse Morris CPG, QP at the request of Scotch Creek 

Ventures Inc. (SCVI). The purpose of the report is to provide supporting documentation in 

connection with the prospectus filing of Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. This report is intended to 

comply with the standards dictated by National Instrument 43-101 regarding the Cupz Project 

located in Esmeralda County, Nevada. 

This report is not intended to define an economic conclusion upon which to make a mine 

development decision. 

Alan J. Morris understands Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. will use this document for reporting 

purposes. 

Alan J. Morris is a consulting exploration geologist with approximately 37 years of experience at 

all levels of mineral exploration and development for several commodities. He is a Certified 

Professional Geologist through AIPG, a Fellow with the Society of Economic Geologists, and a 

member of the Geological Society of Nevada. He provides his services through Ruby Mountain 

GIS in Spring Creek, Nevada. 

2.1 Purpose and Terms of Reference 

This report is prepared using the industry accepted Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy, 

and Petroleum (CIM) “Best Practices and Reporting Guidelines” for disclosing mineral 

exploration information, the Canadian Securities Administrators revised regulations in NI 43- 

101, Form 43-101F, (Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects) and Companion Policy 43- 

101CP and CIM definitions “Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves” 

(December 11, 2005). 
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Alan J. Morris is not an associate or affiliate of Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. and his fee for this 

Technical Report is not dependent in whole or in part on any prior or future engagement or 

understanding resulting from the conclusions of this report. The fee is in accordance with 

standard industry fees for work of this nature. Alan J. Morris does not have any financial 

interest in Curellie LLC, Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. or any affiliated company. 

2.2 Sources of Information 

Much the information in this report was provided by Hunsaker Inc and was verified by the 

author. Hunsaker Inc., was contracted by SCVI to produce a geologic report which includes 

property geologic maps, geochemical results, and geophysical studies. Hunsaker Inc. compiled 

this information from published sources and results of their on-going exploration efforts. The 

regional geology and background information was compiled by the author from published 

historical works and personal experience in the district and region. 

These historical reports appear to be based on factual data and the interpretations of their 

authors. None appear to have been modified to mislead the prudent reader. The author does 

not know of any existing information in the public domain or developed by Scotch Creek 

Ventures Inc. or the underlying vendor that has been intentionally omitted to mislead the reader 

about the viability of this project. 

2.3 Qualified Persons 

The Qualified Person responsible for this report is Alan J. Morris, a consulting geologist 

contracted by Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. 

2.4 Effective Date 

The effective date of this report is December 30, 2017. 
 

2.5 Field Involvement of Qualified Persons 

The author spent one day (November 10, 2017) examining the land tenure and conducting a 

reconnaissance of the surface geology, alteration, and mineralization. The author walked out 

one of the alteration zones, verified sample location tags, and examined mineralized outcrops 

and historic workings. Spot GPS locations were recorded for marked sample points and claim 

corners for comparison to the mapped locations. 

2.6 Contributors 

There are no other contributors to the report. 
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2.7 Units of Measure 

Units of measure in this report are imperial unless otherwise noted. Metric equivalents are 

given in parentheses following the English value where needed. Budget numbers and holding 

costs are given in Canadian dollars, these are noted in the text and designated with the symbol 

“$CDN”. Land holding costs are given in both US and Canadian dollars, with the exchange rate 

pegged at 1$CDN = 0.79$US. Budget estimates also used this exchange rate. 

Locations are given in Longitude – Latitude degrees or UTM X, Y (meters) in NAD 27 Zone 11 

projection. 

2.7.1 Common Units 
 

Above mean sea level AMSL Kilo (thousand) k 

Cubic Foot feet3 Equal to or less than ≤ 

Cubic inch in3 Micrometer (micron) um 

Cubic yard yd3 Million Years Ago Ma. 

Day d Milligram mg 

Degree ° Troy ounces per short ton oz/t 

Degrees Centigrade °C Parts per billion ppb 

Degrees Fahrenheit °F Parts per million ppm 

Dollars (US) $ Percent % 

Dollars (Canada) $CDN Pounds lb. 

Gallon gal Short ton (2,000lb) st 

Gallons per minute gpm Short ton (US) t 

Grams per tonne g/t Specific gravity SG 

Equal to or greater than ≥ Square foot feet2 

Hectare ha Square inch in2 

Hour h Yard yd. 

Inch ” Year yr. 

 

 
2.7.2 Metric Conversion Factors 

Metric Conversion Factors (divided by) 

Short tons to tonnes (1.10231) 

Pounds to tonnes (2204.62) 

Ounces (Troy) to tonnes (32150) 

Ounces (Troy) to kilograms 32.150 

Feet to meters (3.28084) 

 
 

2.7.3 Abbreviations 

Ounces (Troy) to grams (0.03215) 

Ounces (Troy)/short ton to grams/tonne 
(0.02917) 

Acres to hectares (2.47105) 

Miles to kilometers (0.62137) 



 

 

American Society for Testing and Materials 

ASTM 

Arsenic As 

Aluminum Al 

Antimony Sb 

Atomic Absorption Spectrometry AAS 

Atomic Emission Spectrometry AES 

Boron B 

Bureau of Land Management BLM 

Bismuth Bi 

Calcium Ca 

Copper Cu 

Diamond Drill Hole DDH 

Fluorine F 

Global Positioning System GPS 

Gold Au 

Internal Rate of Return IRR 

Inductively Coupled Plasma ICP 

Lead Pb 

Magnesium Mg 

Manganese Mn 

Mass Spectrometry MS 

Metallic Screen Fire Assay MSFA 

Molybdenum Mo 

Mount Diablo Base and Meridian MDB&M 

Mercury  Hg 

National Instrument 43-101 NI 43-101 

Nearest Neighbor  NN 

Net Smelter Royalty NSR 

Potassium K 

Reverse Circulation RC/RCV 

Selenium  Se 

Silicon Si 

Silver Ag 

Sodium Na 

Tin Sn 

Tungsten W 

Universal Transverse Mercator UTM 

United States Bureau of Mines USBM 

United States Geological Survey USGS 

Uranium U 

Zinc Zn 
 
 

 

3.0 Reliance on Other Experts 

The author of this report did not consult with other experts concerning legal, political, 

environmental, or tax matters. 
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4.0 Property Description and Location 
 

4.1 Location 

The property is in sections 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 21 and 22 of T4S R42E (Figures 2 and 3). It is 

13.6 road miles (22 km) southwest of Goldfield, Nevada, 278 miles (448 km) southeast of Reno 

or about 195 miles (314km) from Las Vegas, Nevada. Using a well-maintained county road, the 

project is easily reached from U.S. Highway 95, leaving the highway 6.2 miles (10 km) south of 

Goldfield, Nevada and traveling west then southward about 6 miles (8 km) on the Mount 

Jackson road then turning east for about 1.4 miles (2.2 km) to the west property boundary. The 

property can also be accessed from highway 95 on the east side but the western route roads 

are in better condition. The property is moderately rugged; access other than existing dirt roads 

and trails is by foot. 

4.2 Property Position 

The property consists of 39 unpatented lode mining claims in Esmeralda County, Nevada. The 

existing property covers 806 acres in the Cuprite Hills District. The current claim package was 

staked by Curellie LLC. The property is controlled by Curellie LLC with no underlying 

ownerships or royalty agreements. Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. has executed a purchase 

agreement with Curellie LLC to acquire the property position. 

Holding costs for the 39 lode claims in the block are about $(US)177 ($CDN 224) per year in 

rental fees paid to the Bureau of Land Management ($US155 per claim = $6,045) and state and 

local fees paid to Esmeralda County ($US22 per claim). Total for the 39 claims will be about 

$CDN 8,738 ($US6,903). 
 

Claim rental fees for the September 1, 2017 – August 31, 2018 claim year have been paid to the 

BLM. A “Notice of Intent to Hold” and County fees for the 2017 – 2018 claim year have also 

been paid. 

The claim names and numbers are included in Appendix One. 
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Figure 3. Cupz Project: Land Holdings 

 
 
 

4.2.1 Located Claims 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. holds a contiguous block of 39 claims, each covering about 8 ha (20 

acres). The claim location map is shown in Figure 3. An initial block of 14 claims were located 

by Curellie LLC April 23 – 25, 2017. An additional 25 claims were staked for SCVI in November 

2017 to cover targets revealed by the summer – fall 2017 exploration work. All lode claims are 

subject to a 3% NSR royalty held by Curellie LLC. 

4.2.2 Leased Properties 
 

Scotch Creek Ventures holds the Cupz property outright with no underlying leases. 
 

4.2.3 Fee land 

There is no fee land on the Cupz property. 
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4.3 Property Agreements and Royalties 

Scotch Creek Ventures Inc. (SCVI) holds the Cupz property via a Property Purchase Agreement 

between SCVI and Curellie LLC dated July 12, 2017. The general terms of the agreement are 

an outright purchase of the property for 17,000 Canadian dollars ($CDN) with a 3% net smelter 

return (NSR) royalty to Curellie. 

The payment schedule is: 
 

$CDN 17,000 in cash on execution of the agreement, this has been payed. 
 

Curellie retains a production net smelter royalty (NSR) of 3% on all minerals produced from the 

property. At any time SCVI may reduce the royalty to 1% by paying $CDN 1,000,000 to the 

royalty holder or to 2% by paying $CDN500,000. 

4.4 Environmental Liability 

Several historic mine workings are found on the claim block. For the most part, these have 

been fenced and stabilized but there is an unknown risk of ground or surface water 

contamination associated with the workings and their waste piles. Several historic prospect pits 

and adits exist on the unpatented claims. These are normally not considered an environmental 

liability to the current claimant. However, if they pose a significant risk to recreationists and 

other members of the public, they should be fenced and posted with warning signs to avoid 

potential liability issues. 

4.5 Operational Permits and Jurisdictions 

The project is located on open federal land managed by the Bureau of Land Management 

(BLM). On BLM land, permits are required for all significant surface disturbances. Geologic 

mapping, soil and rock sampling, and other low-impact activities can be conducted without 

specific permits on a casual use basis. Any road or trail construction used for mechanized 

equipment, drilling, or trenching will require a permit from the BLM. Up to five acres of 

disturbance are allowed on a NOI level permit. The NOI can come with restrictions to protect 

biological, historical, or archeological resources. A performance bond is required to insure the 

required reclamation work is done. 

Disturbance of more than five acres requires a Plan of Operation (POO) which in turn requires 

an Environmental Assessment (EA). This process is standard practice in Nevada and both the 

regulators and applicants follow a standard set of rules. Going to a POO can require significant 

environmental and archeological assessment work before the permit can be issued. Lead times 

for a POO can take up to a year or two depending on the environment and the extent of 

proposed operations. If the regulators consider the property large enough or in a sensitive area, 

an Environmental Impact Statement (EIA) may be required before operating permits are 

granted. 

The phase one recommended exploration program can be conducted under the casual use 

provision while drilling will require NOI level permits from the BLM. As exploration progresses 

and surface disturbance occurs, NOI or POO level permits will be applied for as required. 
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4.6 Requirements to Maintain the Claims in Good Standing 

Annual holding costs for the current 39 claim blocks are about $6900. BLM (federal) claim 

rental fees are $155 per year, per claim due by September 1 of each year. A Notice of Intent to 

Hold must also be filed with Esmeralda County by November 1 of each year, payment of State 

and local fees of $22.00 per claim are due with this filing. There are no underlying leases or 

other requirements to keep the claims in good standing 

4.7 Mineral Tenure 

The property is held via unpatented mining claims under provisions of the Federal Mining Act of 

1872 as amended and regulations issued by the U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of 

Land Management. As long as the rental fees are paid, and document filings are made 

correctly, the claims do not expire. A mining claim grants discovery rights and the exclusive 

right to explore and develop the claims but it does not give the holder an unfettered right to 

extract and sell minerals as there are multiple local, state, and federal regulatory approvals and 

permits required before this can take place. 

4.8 Significant Risk Factors 

The author is not aware of any significant factors or risks that may affect access, title, or the 

right or ability to perform work on the property. The area is not within the parts of Nevada 

previously proposed for withdrawal to mineral entry as part of the Greater Sage Grouse 

management plans. However, similar efforts to protect other species cannot be completely ruled 

out in the future. The area is home to federally protected feral burros and any disturbance 

permits will likely include provisions to protect them. 

 

5.0 Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure, and Physiography 

 
 

Property access, climate, and physical setting are all favorable. The site is remote from large 

population centers but not so much that it has wilderness value. Normal weather and climate of 

the area would not hinder year-round access or interfere with exploration and mining activities. 

5.1 Accessibility 

The property is 12 road miles southwest of Goldfield, Nevada, and 278 miles (448 km) 

southeast of Reno or about 195 miles (314km) from Las Vegas, Nevada (see Figure 1). Access 

is by U.S. Highway 95, traveling 10 miles south of Goldfield, Nevada, and thence traveling 

westward 2 miles on well-maintained county roads (see Figure 2). The property is rugged; 

access other than existing dirt roads and trails is by foot. The project is in southeastern 

Esmeralda County, about 195 miles (314km) northwest of Las Vegas, Nevada. The nearest 

supply center is Tonopah, Nevada. Tonopah offers food, lodging, fuel, and some exploration 

services. While Las Vegas is a much larger town, Reno is the major supply center for 

exploration and mining activities in Nevada. All mineral exploration services including supplies, 

analytical laboratories, and drilling service companies are available in Reno. The nearest 
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airport with commercial service is Las Vegas, Nevada. The Tonopah airport can handle most 

general aviation aircraft, including business jets. 

The highways are sufficient for transportation of exploration-size heavy equipment. 

Development logistics would use the 2 lane U.S. 95 highway and adjacent power, natural gas, 

and fiber optic transmission lines in the highway corridor. Four-wheel drive roads and ATV trails 

provide access to the main target areas. 

5.2 Climate and Physiography 

The project area is located at an elevation of about 5800 feet (1770 meters) in the Basin and 

Range physiographic province. The area has hot dry summers and cool winters. At Goldfield, 

Nevada (12 miles NNE of Cupz at an elevation of 5700 feet, 1737 meters) the average daily 

high temperature for July is 32°C (89.6°F) with an average low of 10.5°C (50.9°F); in December, 

the average high is 6.3 °C (43.3°F) with an average low of -5.8°C (21.5°F). The record high 

was 108°F (42.2°C) set on July 20, 1906 and the all-time low was -23°F (-30.5°C) set January 

21, 1937. http://www.wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?nv3245 
 

Total precipitation averages 154 mm (6.06 inches) per year with most of this falling in January 

through June. Rainfall in this environment is highly variable with long dry periods interspersed 

with major downpours from thunderstorms in the March – October timeframe 

The property is in rugged terrain consisting of moderate slopes, rugged rocky ridges, and 

alluvial fans dissected by dry stream channels. Elevations range from 1676 meters (5500 feet) 

on the lower slopes to about 1885 meters (6185 feet) on the crest of the ridge. Vegetation is 

minimal consisting primarily of desert scrub, cacti, and Joshua trees (a giant Yucca). 

5.3 Local Resources and Infrastructure 

Other than a county-maintained gravel access road, drilling roads, and dirt trails, infrastructure 

on the property is negligible. 

Since the location, size of the deposit, or the type of processing facility required is not yet 

known, the development footprint for a mine at the Cupz property is also not known. The BLM 

has demonstrated a willingness at several Nevada mines to swap low quality (for grazing and 

wildlife) land to be used for processing facilities and buildings for higher quality ranch land 

(purchased on the open market by the mining company). 

Drill rigs would likely need to come from Reno or the major regional hub for drilling at Elko, 

Nevada (310 road miles, 500 km). In many cases, a drill rig will already be in the area working 

on other jobs, so mobilization distances may be less. 

Mining is a common occupation in the area with several small to world class mines operating in 

the Tonopah-Goldfield-Beatty area over the past several decades. A well-trained and 

experienced mining workforce pool is available in Nevada that will flow to where it is needed. 

http://www.wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?nv3245
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6.0 History 
 

6.1 Regional Mining History 

For the most part, mining history in southern Nevada starts with prospecting done by settlers 

passing through the area headed to California in the mid to late 1840’s and then as prospectors 

fanned out from the Comstock rush in the 1860’s. Several districts in the region were 

discovered between 1867 and 1885. 

The project area lies between the Cuprite and Goldfield mining districts. The Goldfield rush was 

relatively late, with initial discovery in 1901 and initial production in 1903. Cuprite was 

discovered in 1905 but did not produce a significant amount of metal. 

Prior to the discovery of the supergiant Carlin type gold deposits, Goldfield ranked as the third 

largest gold, silver, and copper producer in Nevada. Total gold production from discovery in 

1903 to 1951 is estimated to be about 130 Tonnes (4,180,000 oz) with 45 Tonnes of silver (1.45 

million oz) and 16,870 tonnes of copper. (Ashley, 1990). Production was primarily from high 

grade quartz – enargite or famatinite (Cu3SbS4) veins in highly altered volcanics. The alteration 

at Goldfield extends for hundreds of feet beyond the veins covering a total area of about 40 km2 

(15.4 mi2) (Rockwell, 2000). 

Cuprite and Goldfield are both of the quartz-enargite high-sulfidation type of epithermal 

mineralization. Other deposits of this type include Summitville, Colorado, and the El Indio 

deposit in Chile. The region has been used as a test locality for ground, air, and space based 

remote sensing systems. Most of the voluminous literature on the region is related to the 

remote sensing efforts in the area. Since the alteration is gaudy and wide-spread, free of 

vegetative cover, and easily accessible, various scanning systems have been tested here since 

the 1970’s. The Cuprite area has received more attention than Goldfield by the remote sensing 

community since it is mostly undisturbed by mining activity. Three studies (Abrams et al 1977, 

Ashley and Abrams, 1980, and Swayze, 1997) focused on remote sensing applications but also 

included geologic mapping and ground mineral sampling to validate the remote sensing studies. 

Swayze et al, 2014 provides the most recent overview of the basic geology and remote sensing 

studies. 

6.2 Property History 

This is a grass roots property with some previous undocumented work. Additional research 

could be done to see if any records can be uncovered for the previous efforts. The shafts and 

adits on the property look to be several decades old. These have been fenced and placarded 

by the State of Nevada under their abandoned mines program. 

The USGS Mineral Resources Data System (MRDS) lists only one property in southwest part of 

Section 15, the Rosary One Claims. They are listed as a lead-silver occurrence with tabular 

galena – pyrite mineralization in a fault zone. Geologists from the Nevada Bureau of Mines and 

Geology visited the Rosary Claims in 1982 as part of a regional prospect sampling project 

(Tingley, 1998). They apparently did not get to the western side of the range. 
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The earliest claims found in the BLM database in the property area were staked by John 

Clouser in January of 1970 and were dropped in 1981. The table below lists the previous 

claims in the sections touched by the current property position. These claims may or may not 

have covered parts of the current property position. All of them were abandoned prior to the 

staking of the Cupz claims. 

Table 1. Cupz project area: Previous Claimants 
 

Section Subdivision Claimant Location date dropped 

14 NE, NW, SW, SE John Clouser Oct-1970 1981 

14 NW Jack Ridgway Aug-1979 1996 

14 SW Kofal et al Aug-1979 1996 

14 SW, SE BriCan Resources May-1985 1988 

14 SW, SE, NW Cominco American Inc. Aug-1990 1991 

15 SW John Clouser Oct-1970 1981 

15 NE, SE Kofal et al Aug-1979 1996 

15 NW, SW Wade Cavanaugh Jan 1984 1991 

15 NW, SW, SE Richard Ridgeway May 1984 1986 

15 SE, SW, NW, NE BriCan Resources Inc. 1984, 1985 1988 

15 SE, SW, NW, NE Cominco American Inc. Aug-1990 1991 

15 SW Elko Environmental Services Oct 2009 2013 

15 SW George Klemmick Oct 2009 2012 

16 NE, SE, SW Wade Cavanaugh et al Sep 1984 1991 

16 NE, NW Richard Ridgeway May 1984 1986 

16 SE, SW, NW, NE BriCan Resources Inc 1984, 1985 1989 

16 SW Elko Environmental Services Oct 2009 2013 

16 SW George Klemmick Oct 2009 2012 

 

 
There are reclaimed drill sites and roads on the property, but it is not known who drilled them or 

the results. 

 

7.0 Geological Setting and Mineralization 
 

7.1 Regional Geology 

Regionally, the Cupz project lies within the Walker Lane deformation zone, a distal reflection of 

the San Andres plate boundary structure. The oldest rocks in the region are pre-Cambrian 

sandstone, conglomerate, and limestone of the Deep Springs Formation. The pre-Cambrian 

sediments were likely deposited on crystalline continental basement. The overlying Cambrian 

sediments are part of a sequence of continental margin carbonates and clastics. 
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Figure 4. Cupz Project: Regional geologic map 
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Figure 5. Geologic map units shown on Figure 4 
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Thrusting during one of several accretionary events along the (current) west coast of North 

America resulted in inter-formational slippage in the Cambrian section which metamorphosed 

the siltstones and limestones to phyllites and marble. This probably reduced their potential to 

act as host rocks to later mineralization compared to their fresh equivalents in northeast 

Nevada. 

From the Jurassic through the Pleistocene, multiple igneous events resulted in wide-spread 

volcanism and intrusion of stocks and dikes. Age dating of the various plutonic bodies in the 

region remains spotty, especially outside of the major mining districts. 

Tectonic Setting 
 

The western coast of North America has been the site of multiple episodes of subduction, back- 

arc spreading, and continental – island arc collisions. Compressional events range in age from 

the Mississippian Roberts Mountains Thrust/ Antler Orogeny (approximately 340 Ma.) through 

the Cretaceous Sevier Orogeny ending about 90 Ma. Relaxation of the collisional- 

compressional stress resulted in several basin-forming events between the compressions. 

During these lulls, the western North America – Pacific plate boundary (current position and 

directions) was either continental – oceanic plate subduction or strike-slip translational 

movement (Dickinson, 2011). 

Table 2. Summary of Nevada Tectonic events (from Dickinson, 2011) 
 

Ma Cordilleran Context Great Basin 

25-0 Evolution of San Andreas transform 
system and associated Basin-Range 
block-faulting 

crustal stretching of Great Basin and strike 
slip along the evolving Walker Lane-ECSZ 
belt 

50-25 initiation of Basin and Range 
taphrogen during intra-arc and back- 
arc extension 

seaward sweep of inland arc magmatism 
and development of Nevadaplano 
paleochannels 

125-50 interval of major Cordilleran 
batholiths with Franciscan subduction 
of Farallon plate 

initiation of Sevier thrust belt and elevated 
Nevadaplano with back sweep of 
magmatism 

175-125 accretion of intra-oceanic Mesozoic 
arcs and development of intra-orogen 
suture belt 

backarc Luning-Fencemaker thrust system, 
backarc plutonism, and distal extension 

250-175 initiation of trench and Cordilleran 
magmatic arc along activated 
continental margin 

backarc Auld Lang Syne extensional basin 
and encroachment of interior ergs from the 
east 

325-250 final consolidation of exotic Paleozoic 
island arc assemblages along 
continental margin 

development of Havallah and Oquirrh basins 
and emplacement of Golconda allochthon 

375-325 initial accretion of exotic Paleozoic 
island arc assemblages and 
overthrust seafloor 

emplacement of Roberts Mountains 
allochthon and development of Antler 
foreland basin 

575-375 breakup of Rodinia (750–575 Ma) 
and evolution of passive continental 
margin 

deposition of Cordilleran miogeocline (late 
Neoproterozoic to mid-Late Devonian) 
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Subduction of the Farallon plate in the Late Cretaceous - early Tertiary resulted in batholith 

formation to the west of Nevada (Sierra Nevada Batholith and others) and the elevation of the 

central part of Nevada. As the plate motions changed, the Farallon plate foundered and sunk 

deeper into the mantle. This rollback resulted in volcanism sweeping from north to south and 

south to north from the edges of the plate. Volcanic outbreaks started about 50 Ma. on the 

fringes and ended in southern Nevada about 10 Ma. (Dickinson, 2011). The contribution of 

magmas and fluids derived from the dehydration of the subducted rocks drove the Eocene 

period of gold mineralization in Nevada (Arehart et al, 2013). 
 

Figure 6. Western Nevada general tectonic setting (from Richards and Mumin, 2013) 
 

Two major volcanic events covered the earlier metamorphic and sedimentary rocks and 

intrusives in the later Oligocene (~25 Ma.) and middle Miocene (~16 Ma.), along with recent 

basalts that are as young as a few thousand years old. 

Tertiary volcanism occurred in roughly three waves in this part of Nevada. The oldest Volcanic 

rocks in the immediate area were deposited on the meta-sedimentary Cambrian rocks in the 

western Cuprite District at about 27 Ma (Swayze, 1997). Another outbreak at about 13-16 Ma is 

associated with the Siebert Tuff in the Goldfield area (Ashley and Abrams, 1980). The massive 

ignimbrite eruptions and associated calderas of the Southwest Nevada Volcanic Field 

deposited multiple ash flows on the area from about 13.25 to about 6 Ma but the only units 

preserved at the surface in the Cuprite area are about 7.6 Ma. With a later basalt flow about 6.2 

Ma (Swayze, 1997). 
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The Farallon plate detachment and roll back is considered the primary driver for the volcanism 

until about 10 Ma. After then, the tectonic framework for the volcanism is less well understood. 

The source of the very young basalt features in the region are thought to be deep crustal 

features associated with the on-going east-west extension and the hinterland of the San Andres 

system tapping relatively shallow mantle rocks. 

7.2 Property Geology 

The Cupz project was mapped using outcrop style mapping. Units were mapped using 

descriptions from Albers and Stewart (1972) and Crafford (2007) (Figure 4, Figure 5, Figure 6, 

Figure 7). Hand samples were collected from seven locations and sent to Wagner Petrographic 

to have thin sections made. Mike Ressel, Assistant Professor-Economic Geologist at the 

University of Nevada, Reno, looked at the thin sections to determine what minerals were 

present. 

The Cupz project lithology consists of Cambrian Harkless Formation, Cambrian Mule Spring 

Limestone, and Cambrian Emigrant Formation, listed oldest to youngest. Cupz has two intrusive 

events, mafic/lamprophyre dikes, and felsic dikes, which could be as young as Tertiary in age. 

The dikes are likely controlled by the major fault trends. 

There are three primary fault trends on the project. They are: north-south, north-northeast, and 

WNW/ESE. The WNW/ESE fault has down dropped the Emigrant Formation. 

Cupz has two overlapping mineralizing events. The widespread gold and copper bearing event 

appears to be to the southwest, predominantly associated with the felsic dikes, but sometimes 

related to the mafic/lamprophyre dikes. A base metal dominant (Cu, Pb, Zn, plus Ag) event 

postdates the felsic dikes. 

Lithology 
 

The Harkless Formation is described by Albers and Stewart (1972): 
 

A basal quarzitic siltstone member that consists largely of a thick monotonous sequence of 

grayish-olive, pale-olive, and dark-greenish-gray fine siltstone or phyllitic siltstone composed of 

silt-sized quartz grains set in a matrix of chlorite, muscovite, and biotite. The rock probably has 

been at least slightly metamorphosed everywhere, and commonly is phyllitic siltstone, phyllite or 

hornfels. The hornfels is composed of muscovite, biotite, chlorite, and quartz, and commonly the 

biotite and chlorite occur in ovoid aggregates about .5 to 11 mm across that give the rock a 

spotted appearance. 

The Mule Spring Limestone conformably overlays the Harkless Formation and is described by 

Albers and Stewart (1972): 

Mule Spring Limestone: The Mule Spring Limestone consists of medium-gray to medium-light- 

gray very finely to finely crystalline, locally aphanitic limestone characteristically containing 

concretionary algal structures (Girvanella) that range in size from ½ to 1 inch in diameter. The 

amount of Girvanella in the formation is quite variable. In some beds these structures are 

absent, in other beds they occur as a few scattered individuals, and in still other beds they are 
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abundant and constitute as much as 40 percent of the rock. The gray colors of limestone are 

commonly patchy or mottled. The limestone is very thin to thin bedded in most places, although 

structureless parts occur locally. 

At Cupz the Mule Spring Limestone is found in a few small outcrops. It is more dominant north 

of the Cupz claims. 

The Emigrant Formation is described by Albers and Stewart (1972): 
 

Emigrant Formation: The Emigrant Formation’s upper most member is the limestone and chert 

member which consists dominantly of thinly interlayered beds of limestone and chert. Individual 

outcrops of this lithologic type locally cover several square miles. The limestone is medium gray, 

aphanitic, and occurs in beds from ½ to 3 inches thick interstratified with the chert. The chert is 

medium gray, although it commonly weathers dark yellowish brown, is evenly laminated, and 

occurs as 1/3 to 1-inch layers or broad lens-shaped masses interstratified with the limestone. 

The chert constitutes about 20 percent of the strata, but locally the percentage is higher. The 

chert commonly grades laterally into limestone and is probably mostly of replacement origin. 

Locally as much as 100 feet of non-cherty limestone occur at the base of, or within, the 

limestone and chert sequence of the upper part of the formation. A few thin layers of 

intraformational flat-pebble conglomerate commonly occur in the limestone and chert sequence. 

The layers consist of disc-shaped pieces of limestone, as large as 3 inches in diameter, set in a 

calcite matrix. The limestone and chert member reacts incompetently to deformation stress and 

is commonly tightly folded on a small scale. Generally, the distance between adjacent fold axes 

along a bedding plane is about 1 to 10 feet. 
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Figure 7. Cupz Project: Generalized Geologic Map (from Hunsaker, 2017) 
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Figure 8. Legend for Cupz Geologic Map (Hunsaker, 2017) 
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Figure 9. Cupz Project: Cross Section A-A': (from Hunsaker, 2017) 
 

7.2.1 Igneous Rocks 

Two different intrusive rock-types are mapped, which could be as young as Tertiary in age. 

They are: 

Mafic Intrusive/ Lamprophyre Dikes: The mafic dike is dark, gray-black, or gray-green, aphanitic 

rock that has apatite, biotite, hornblende, feldspar, and magnetite with some quartz in the 

groundmass. 

Felsic Dikes: The felsic dike is a light gray to white rhyolite. The felsic dikes have quartz, 

calcite, sericite, k-feldspar, pyrite, and adularia as a result of alteration. The dikes are devitrified, 

and zircons are present in some iron oxidized areas. 

7.2.3 Structure 

Cupz has three primary fault trends. They are: north-south, north-northeast and WNW/ESE 

(Figure 4). The WNW/ESE fault down drops the Emigrant limestone to the south, juxtaposing it 

against the Harkless Formation. The Emigrant is steeply dipping near the Harkless fault contact 

and the dip shallows to the south and south-west (Figure 4). The felsic and mafic/lamprophyre 
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dikes that intrude the Harkless and Emigrant Formations and are generally localized by the 

faults. 

The WNW/ESE trend has gold values up to 1.80 ppm Au. 
 

The north-south fault trend has felsic dikes and mafic/lamprophyre dikes exposed at the surface 

along the fault. This area has the highest gold values at Cupz; 3.87, 3.59, 2.25, and 1.42 ppm 

gold (Figure 9). Copper values in the north-south fault area are up to 6.1% Cu (Figure 10). The 

dikes are strongly related to mineralization at Cupz (Figure 6 and Figure 7). 

The north-northeast trending fault is a significant mineralized zone. Along the north-northeast 

fault samples with gold values up to 0.92 ppm and 1.6% copper occur in the Harkless siltstone 

adjacent to the mafic/lamprophyre dike (Figure 19 and Figure 20). 

 
 
 
 

 
Figure 10. Cupz Project: Cross Section B-B’ (from Hunsaker, 2017) 
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7.3 Mineralization 

Mineralization discovered to date consists of structurally controlled veins and disseminated 

sulfides (or their oxidized remnants) in fracture zones. At this point, a coherent mineralized 

body has not been identified. However geochemical and geophysical work has identified areas 

for additional geologic and geochemical investigation and eventual drilling. 

The mineralization consists of quartz veins with oxide copper minerals some carrying trace to 

3.87 ppm gold. Most of the observed mineralization occurs along a NNE trending structural 

zone and dike swarm on the western part of the property or the ESE trending fault zone in the 

southern part of the property. 

 

 
7.4 Alteration 

The Paleozoic Harkless Formation is pervasively sericitized and weakly to strongly iron 

oxidized. The thrust contact with the Harkless Formation has bleaching, brecciation, and a sliver 

of felsic intrusive along the thrust contact. The faulted Harkless provides a likely pathway for the 

dikes and appears to be a good host for mineralization. Gold values in the Harkless are up to 

0.92 ppm gold, along fault trends. 
 

The Emigrant limestone can be strongly bleached, coarsely recrystallized and have 

disseminated sulfides, predominantly pyrite. Altered limestone also has weak skarn formation 

with a progression towards marble. Within the WNW/ESE corridor the limestone is gossanous. 

The gossan is pervasively hematitic and goethitic with massive sulfides and contains weak 

skarn (relict diopside or pyroxene in thin section). The gossan is associated with the base 

metals. The highest gold value at Cupz (3.87 ppm Au) is from a prospect in the Emigrant 

limestone where it is cut by a felsic dike in a north-south fault zone. 

The hornblende in mafic/lamprophyre dikes has been replaced by calcite. Remnant olivine can 

be seen in thin section. 

The felsic dikes can be silicified, or clay altered. The dikes are generally weakly sericitized and 

have limonite after pyrite. 
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Figure 11. Cupz Project: Alteration Map 
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8.0 Deposit Type 

 
 

At this early point it is unknown what the exact nature of the mineralization may prove to be. 

The greater Cuprite district mineralizing system is thought to be the result of a large magma 

body at depth. While it is not known if this system is a porphyry copper deposit or a weakly 

mineralized “failed porphyry.” Despite the name, a “failed porphyry” can throw off significant 

mineralization, the only failure is that it did not produce an economic porphyry copper deposit. 

 

Figure 12. Generalized porphyry copper deposit model (from Richards and Mumin, 2013) 
 

The large gold-silver-copper gold deposit at Goldfield is of the high-sulfidation quartz-enargite 

type. Alteration observed in the Cuprite district is analogous to an upper level (above the metal 

deposition) expression of the quartz-enargite deposit type. Alteration in the Cupz area is not of 

the high-level type, nor is it in volcanic rocks. This deeper level of exposure and the 

sedimentary rock host points more to a deeper vein type system, perhaps pre-dating the 

eruption of the host rocks at Goldfield and Cuprite. 

The bi-modal (felsic and strongly mafic) dikes at Cupz might indicate a more rift related igneous 

event than a distal expression of a porphyry event. The age of the dikes at Cupz is not known, 

they might range in age from Jurassic to late Tertiary. Until direct dating or geologic 
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superposition information is developed, it is not possible to determine if they are related to a 

single event or are a case of multiple events using the same structural feature. 

As this point, the mineralization is clearly igneous related but its’ exact position in the intrusive 

related mineralization spectrum is not clear. 

8.1 Exploration Model 

Without a clear determination of the mineralization type, the exploration model at Cupz remains 

in the intrusive related spectrum, including a distal phase of the porphyry copper model or a 

more direct bi-modal dike, rift type system such as the Midas and Fire Creek vein deposits in 

northern Nevada. The geochemistry of some of the samples (high Silver to gold, high selenium 

values) point towards a rift-type system while other areas with high copper to gold values and 

only trace silver suggest a quartz-enargite type fluid. Given the multiple episodes of igneous 

activity in the region, over printing of different ages and sources of fluids is more likely than any 

single event. 

First principles of mineral deposits are to look for fluid pathways and deposition mechanisms. 

The main model at Cupz is a vein system related to the dikes and cross cutting structures or 

potentially a tabular body resulting from replacement of a specific stratigraphic horizon or fluid 

flow along a low-angle structure. Use of surface geology, geochemistry and geophysics will be 

used to direct each additional phase of work. 

One drawback to models is that they can focus too much attention on specific details and can 

blind the explorer to other possibilities. In many cases the large “company maker” deposits 

(Newmont’s original Carlin Mine in Nevada, Kennecott’s Bingham Canyon Mine in Utah for 

examples) were something new and destined to become their own exploration model. 

 

9.0 Exploration 

 

The property is an early stage of exploration. Work done on the property to date includes 

geologic mapping, prospecting scale rock chip sampling, ground magnetics, and gravity. 

9.1 Surface Exploration 

Surface exploration is limited to geologic mapping and rock chip sampling of prospects and 

altered outcrops. The results of these samples are discussed in the geochemical exploration 

section below. 

9.2 Geophysical Surveys 

The property and surrounding environs were covered with ground magnetic and gravity surveys 

to help map out structures hidden under cover in the valley and pediment gravel on the lower 

slopes. Magnetics was also applied to help map out the mafic dikes and look for zones of 

magnetite-destructive alteration. 
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McGee Geophysical of Reno was contracted to perform the data collection for the gravity and 

magnetic surveys. A total of 336 new gravity stations were read during the survey conducted 

September 7 – 9, 2017. Stations on the east side of the valley were spaced on a 200-meter grid 

and those in the basin to the west were on a 400-meter grid. 

 

 
Figure 13. Cupz Project: Gravity Station Map, (locations from Wright, 2017) 

 

Relative gravity measurements were made with LaCoste & Romberg Model-G gravity meters. 

Topographic surveying was performed with Trimble Real-Time Kinematic (RTK) and Fast-Static 

GPS. The gravity survey is tied to the US Department of Defense gravity base TONOPAH (DoD 

reference number 0455-2). 

All gravity stations were surveyed using the Real-Time Kinematic (RTK) GPS method or, where 

it was not possible to receive GPS base information via radio modem, the Fast-Static method 

was used. A GPS base station, designated CUPZ1, was used on the project. The coordinates 

and elevation of this base station location were determined by making simultaneous GPS 

occupations in the Fast Static mode with Continuously Operating Reference Stations (CORS). 

Topographic surveying was performed simultaneously with gravity data acquisition (Wright, 

2017). 

The survey was conducted during the period September 7 to 9, 2017. A total of 98.6 line 

kilometers of magnetic data were acquired using Geometrics Model G-858 magnetometers. 
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Real-time differentially-corrected GPS was used for positioning. Measurements of the total 

magnetic intensity were taken in the continuous mode at two-second intervals along east-west 

lines spaced 200 meters apart. A base magnetometer was operated during all periods of data 

acquisition and recorded readings every two seconds. Figure 14 shows a station posting over 

topography. 

 

 
Figure 14. Cupz Project: Ground Magnetic Survey (Station data from Wright, 2017) 

 

Jim Wright was engaged to provide advice and interpretation for the gravity and ground 

magnetics survey. The survey area was laid out to extend beyond the initial 14 claims to provide 

sufficient data to identify major geologic features. Wright’s interpretation is as follows (Wright, 

2017): 
 

The gravity clearly reveals the survey spans the southwest margin of a major 

Paleozoic block extending to the northeast and southwest. A major north- 

south normal fault, extending directly through the survey area, forms the west 

edge of the Paleozoic block. To the west of this fault is a basin filled with a 

considerable amount of low density basin fill (Figure 16). The magnetics, as 

would be expected, are relatively subdued over the Paleozoic sediments. 

Volcanic units produce strong magnetic features along the northwest edge of 

the coverage. More interesting are a series of faint linear highs trending north- 

south within the subdued response in the east part of the survey (Figure 17). 
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Several major interpretive elements are depicted on the images with lines and 

hatched polygons. Some are derived primarily from the magnetics while 

others primarily from the gravity. These features include highly magnetic 

volcanics, north-south dike swarm, numerous structures, paleo channel and 

paleo fan. Also interpreted is a small perched basin which sits atop the 

Paleozoic bedrock (Figure 16 and Figure 17). 

The volcanic units are mapped as welded and non-welded tuffs with a tabular 

geometry. That is, sitting directly on the Paleozoic bedrock or, in some cases, 

suspended in basin fill. A possible source feeder is interpreted along the north 

margin of the survey and associated with a complex magnetic pattern 

suggestive of a central feeder rimmed by tuffs. The central feeder is 

interpreted as reversely magnetized as opposed to the tuffs, which are 

normally magnetized. 

A swarm of north-south dikes covers the eastern portion of the survey. The 

dikes are cutting Paleozoic rocks east of the aforementioned major north- 

south basement bounding structure. The dikes are offset by a series of 

northeast directed structures, which predominantly offset the dikes in an 

apparent left lateral fashion. These structures traverse the property and 

extend to the southwest to cut the major north-south structure. At this point the 

down to the west offset of the major structure disappears and is replace with a 

paleo channel draining to the west from Paleozoic rocks down into the deep 

basin. In fact, the paleo channel may well have drained the small perched 

basin defined by the gravity. This band of structures is termed the Northeast 

Structural Zone and is open to the northeast but terminated by the north-south 

basin bounding structure. 

Magnetic variations west of the north-south structure are dominated by 

patches of volcanics rock and weaker responses from sediments filling the 

basin. A paleo fan deposit extends from a magnetic source area north of the 

property and widens to the south into the basin. 

Strong magnetic highs with flanking lows in the northwest corner of the 

coverage are produced by flat lying tuffs facetted by structures along the 

margins and cut by a series of northwest directed structures. West of the 

magnetic high is a gravity high interpreted to be a horst block of Paleozoic 

basement bounded by north-south structures to either side. 
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Figure 15. Cupz Project: Residual Gravity Map with interpretation (based on Wright, 2017) 
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Figure 16. Cupz Project: RTP Magnetics and interpretation (Wright, 2017 and Hunsaker, 2017) 
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The interpreted intrusion located in the northwest corner of the survey 

coverage and identified with a red polygon correlates with a gravity low, as 

well as a low embayment in the overall magnetic high (Figure 16 and Figure 

17). An examination of the National Agriculture Inventory Program (NAIP) air 

photo reveals an unusual texture to the outcropping rocks at this locale. The 

texture is similar to spalling granite, thus the intrusive interpretation. Mesozoic 

granodiorite would be the anticipated lithology, which is designated as Mzgr 

by Stewart and Carlson (1978). 

Applying the simple Bouguer slab model to the perched basin yields a basin 

fill thickness of approximately 100 m. Application of the same model to the 

major north-south structure estimates a 130 m down to the west offset. Of 

course, this estimate varies along the 3.5 kilometer length of the structure. 

Bouguer slab estimates are very simplistic and should only be viewed as a 

general guide. 

Detailed geologic mapping (Hunsaker, 2017) provided a good geologic basis from which to 

refine Wright’s interpretation (Figure 17). Distinct offsets mapped in the field were similar to 

those noted by Wright (Figure 15). Figure 18 shows the mapped faults which correspond with 

the gravity and provide a more accurate placement of the faults. Dike swarms reflected in the 

ground magnetics were not observed on the surface. It is possible they do not reach the current 

erosion surface or weather recessively and are covered by colluvium. Results from the 

proposed soil sampling may highlight the dike swarms. 
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Figure 17. Cupz Project: Combined Magnetic and Gravity interpretation (Wright, 2017) 
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9.3 Geochemical Exploration 
 

There were 72 rock samples taken on the Cupz Property (Figure 18). The rock samples were 

primarily collected from old dumps, adits, and prospects. Samples were analyzed by Bureau 

Veritas Minerals using a 30-gram fire assay with AAS finish for gold and ICP-MS analysis (4- 

acid digestion) for all other elements. Multiple certified reference standards were included with 

every submittal. The results were within acceptable ranges. Figure 19 to Figure 24 show the 

values for gold, copper, silver, lead, zinc, arsenic, and antimony. All of the rock chip 

geochemical results are shown in Appendix 2 

Gold in rocks ranged from less than detection (<0.005 ppm) to 3.87 ppm. Gold values greater 

than 0.50 ppm were all associated with the three major fault trends near mafic/lamprophyre or 

felsic dikes. 

• The highest gold values (3.9, 3.6, 2.2, and 1.4 ppm Au) on the property occur on the 

west side of the property within the north-south fault zone (Figure 19). 

• Samples along the WNW/ESE fault had high gold values of 1.80 and 0.68 ppm. 
 

• The north-northeast fault zone had a high gold value of 0.92 ppm. 
 

Copper in rocks ranged from less than detection (<0.1 ppm) to greater than 10%. The copper 

mineralization is more widespread (Figure 20). High copper values (2.7%, 2.1%, 1.6% and 

0.7%) are often associated with high gold values. The central area of the property has 

numerous copper values greater than one percent (1.2%, 1.6%, 2.4%, 3.8%, 4.4%, and 6.4%) 

including one sample with greater than 10% Cu. These values appear to have an association 

with the gossan/skarn alteration. The numerous high copper values suggest multiple strong and 

pervasive mineralizing events at Cupz. 

Silver in rocks ranged from less than detection (<0.1 ppm) to 195.1 ppm. The highest silver 

values on the project are on the eastern side of the property (47.1, 56.5, 71.0, 127.5, and 195.1 

ppm Ag) (Figure 21). These silver values are not generally associated with the highest gold 

values. 

Lead in rocks ranged from less than detection (<0.1 ppm) to 8.15%. Zinc in rocks ranged from 

less than detection (<1 ppm) to 1.84%. Lead and zinc values are highest on the eastern side of 

the property (Figure 22). The high lead and zinc values are also associated with the higher 

silver values. The higher lead and zinc occur in gossan zones, commonly in the Emigrant 

Limestone. 
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Figure 18. Cupz Project: Rock Chip Sample Locations 
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Figure 19. Cupz Project: Gold in Rock Chip Samples 
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Figure 20. Cupz Project: Copper in Rock Chip Samples 
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Figure 21. Cupz Project: Silver in Rock Chip Samples 
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Figure 22. Cupz Project: Lead in Rock Chip Samples 
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Figure 23. Cupz Project: Arsenic in Rock Chip Samples 
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Figure 24. Cupz Project: Antimony in Rock Chip Samples 
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10.0 Drilling 

 
 

Although there is evidence of a few drill sites on the property, when they were drilled, by whom, 

or with what the results is unknown. It may be possible to retrieve basic information about 

project operator from the BLM and then attempt to track down the down the company or people 

involved to recover the information. Given the minimal cost involved, it may be worth trying to 

find the data, but it is also an effort with a low probability of success. 

 

11.0 Sample Preparation, Analysis, and Security 

 

The rock chip samples were collected by the Hunsaker Inc. Geologist while she was mapping 

the property. After collection by the Hunsaker Inc. geologist, samples were kept in a locked 

vehicle or office until they were delivered to the Bureau Veritas (BV) preparation laboratory in 

Elko or Sparks, Nevada. 

Samples were crushed and pulverized at the Bureau Veritas preparation facilities in Elko and 

Reno, Nevada.  Pulped samples were analyzed at the BV lab in Sparks, Nevada (fire assay) 

and Vancouver, BC (ICP). Gold was run using fire assay with an Atomic Absorption finish, trace 

elements were run using a four acid (HNO3, HCl, HCl04, HF) digestion and Inductively Coupled 

Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS). Quality control samples showed excellent agreement 

between duplicate samples and accepted values for standards. 

Sample security, preparation, and analysis were all performed to industry standards. The 

analytical and sample preparation laboratories are respected commercial facilities and ISO 

certified. The analytical methods and detection levels were adequate for the purpose of this 

program. 

 

12.0 Data Verification 

 
 

The data set consists only of the 72 rock chip samples. All the Assay Certificates are available 

in hard copy and digital format. The certificate values match those in the data base. 

Geophysical results contain their own internal checks that appear to be adequate for the work 

that was done. 

The author spot checked several sample locations in the field, compared GPS coordinates 

taken by him to the sample location coordinates provided by Hunsaker Inc. and found them to 

be within instrumental error for hand held GPS devices. Due to personal knowledge of the 
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integrity of the personnel involved, the obvious shows of copper mineralization, and the early 

stage nature of the project, the author did not collect check geochemical samples in the field. 

The data base for this project is in excellent shape and is adequate for an early stage project. 

Follow on exploration work outlined in the recommendations will build upon this data set and will 

serve to test the findings of the initial work. 

 

13.0 Mineral Processing and Metallurgy 

Not applicable 

 
 

14.0 Mineral Resource Estimates 

Not applicable. 

 
 

23.0 Adjacent Properties 

No other claims are known to be active in the project area at the time of this report. 

 
 

24.0 Other Relevant Data and Information 

The author is not aware of any other information about the project area that has not been 

discussed. 

 

25.0 Interpretation and Conclusions 

 
 

The structure and lithology at Cupz could provide a potential setting for a significant gold 

deposit. The work done so far has outlined anomalous gold (up to 3.87 ppm gold) and copper 

(>10% Cu) zones that warrant further work. Obvious drill targets are emerging and a property 

wide soil program with additional rock sampling and detailed geologic mapping will refine drill 

hole locations and expand the current target zones (Figure 25). Thus, Cupz is an early stage 

property of merit. 

The north-south, north-northeast, WNW/ESE fault trends and the dikes which likely are 

controlled by these faults are the current target zones. The highest gold values (3.9, 3.6, 2.2, 

and 1.4 ppm Au) were all associated with these zones near mafic/lamprophyre or felsic dikes. 

The geochemistry at Cupz suggests two overlapping mineralizing events. The widespread gold 

and copper bearing event appears to occur in the southwest, predominantly associated with the 

felsic dikes but sometimes related to the mafic/lamprophyre dikes. A base metal dominant (Cu, 

Pb, Zn, plus Ag) event postdates the felsic dikes. Further work is needed to evaluate the 

apparent zonation. 
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The gravity data corresponds to the targeted structural/dike zones. The magnetics show 

multiple intrusive bodies that were not mapped, however a soils program could better define 

these zones. 

 
 

 

Figure 25. Cupz Project: Target Areas (from Hunsaker, 2017) see figure 12 for geologic units 
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Cupz Proposed Exploration Program Budget ($CDN) 

Soil Survey, 
Geology 

Item 

Geologist 

field costs 

Vehicle miles 

US Claim rental (2018-2019 year) 

State Fees 

Soil Sampling 

Soil Assays (with QA/QC) 

Rock Assays 

Count Unit 

10 days 

10 days 

1340 miles 

39 each 

39 each 

445 each 

470 each 

25 each 

Price 

633 

177 

0.8 

196 

28 

23 

43 

43 

Total 

Cost 

6,330 

1,770 

1,080 

7,644 

1,092 

10,235 

20,210 

1,075 

$49,436 

Drilling 

Item Count 

Geologist 

Field costs 

vehicle miles 

bonding 

Drilling 

Drill sites and reclaim 

assays w/QC samples 

Unit 

8 days 

7 days 

718 miles 

1 acres 

1000 Ft 

2 each 

220 each 

Price 

633 

177 

0.8 

3797 

43 

3165 

48 

Cost 

5,064 

1,239 

574 

3,797 

43,000 

6,330 

10,560 

Total $70,564 

Grand total costs $CDNCND $120,000 

26.0 Recommendations 

The recommended exploration work at Cupz is designed to cover the expanded property 

position and add an additional layer of information for drill targeting. Recommendations for 

continued work at Cupz are include additional geologic mapping, prospecting, and rock chip 

sampling on the new claims and a property wide soil sampling program. Mineralogical 

determinations using a PIMA™ or similar infrared spectrometry device would help with alteration 

mapping. The budget provides for two scout drill holes of about 500 feet each. 
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Appendix One. List of Claims 
 

 
Claim Name Claimant Date Located Date Filed NMC Number 

Cupz-1 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146758 

Cupz-2 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146759 

Cupz-3 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146760 

Cupz-4 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146761 

Cupz-5 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146762 

Cupz-6 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146763 

Cupz-7 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146764 

Cupz-8 Curellie LLC April 25, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146765 

Cupz-9 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146766 

Cupz-10 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146767 

Cupz-11 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146768 

Cupz-12 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146769 

Cupz-13 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146770 

Cupz-14 Curellie LLC April 24, 2017 July 5, 2017 1146771 

Cupz-15 Curellie LLC November 14, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161460 

Cupz-16 Curellie LLC November 14, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161461 

Cupz-17 Curellie LLC November 14, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161462 

Cupz-18 Curellie LLC November 14, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161463 

Cupz-19 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161464 

Cupz-20 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161465 

Cupz-21 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161466 

Cupz-22 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161467 

Cupz-23 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161468 

Cupz-24 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161469 

Cupz-25 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161470 

Cupz-26 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161471 

Cupz-27 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161472 

Cupz-28 Curellie LLC November 13, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161473 

Cupz-29 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161474 

Cupz-30 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161475 

Cupz-31 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161476 

Cupz-32 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161477 

Cupz-33 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161478 

Cupz-34 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161479 

Cupz-35 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161480 

Cupz-36 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161481 

Cupz-37 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161482 

Cupz-38 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161483 

Cupz-39 Curellie LLC November 12, 2017 December 18, 2017 1161484 
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Appendix Two. Rock chip sample results 
 

SMPLE_ID Au ppm Mo ppm Cu ppm Pb ppm Zn ppm Ag ppm Ni ppm Co ppm 

CR-01 <0.005 2.9 37.2 4.6 41 <0.1 41.3 25.6 

CR-02 <0.005 0.6 4.5 21.2 56 <0.1 4 7.9 

CR-03 <0.005 0.8 8.5 2.4 43 <0.1 31.2 13.2 

CR-04 0.006 1 956.1 2.9 47 <0.1 24.4 33.7 

CR-05 <0.005 3.6 7892.9 118.4 213 <0.1 27.1 33.8 

CR-06 0.113 1.2 24.8 14.6 101 <0.1 51.3 20.3 

CR-07 0.279 7.5 12,080 32.6 163 1.2 216.6 94.2 

CR-08 0.01 6.1 483.2 6849.8 225 13 114.5 39.8 

CR-09 0.007 0.9 91.9 6.3 24 <0.1 16.9 9.8 

CR-10 0.008 1.3 71.8 2.5 30 <0.1 37.1 13.8 

CR-11 0.03 2.3 24.5 49.7 32 <0.1 23.3 7.6 

CR-12 0.019 3.7 831.3 106.4 154 1.1 30.9 25.9 

CR-13 0.009 1.1 194 37 74 1.3 16.2 21.5 

CR-14 0.043 0.3 4.1 5.5 5 <0.1 3.1 1.2 

CR-15 0.039 3.4 1040.7 5401.4 3013 41.7 58.8 116 

CR-16 0.252 2.4 933.5 81500 6493 127.5 25.3 14.6 

CR-17 0.108 2.6 1015.3 53800 18400 71 32.6 7.7 

CR-18 0.006 0.8 95.5 11.9 21 <0.1 14 4 

CR-19 0.018 7.3 1192.5 285.3 136 0.9 65.9 178.6 

CR-20 0.306 0.8 29.9 22.1 6 0.4 3.9 6.8 

CR-21 0.008 18.6 262.9 499.7 345 0.6 19.2 10.6 

CR-22 <0.005 1 14 8.3 78 <0.1 46.4 19.1 

CR-23 <0.005 3.3 64.8 277.3 569 0.1 20.4 10.6 

CR-24 <0.005 0.5 10.9 1.4 5 <0.1 4.5 2.3 

CR-25 0.22 18.7 38,200 19.8 35 4.4 54.2 105.6 

CR-26 0.098 17.7 107.3 9.8 29 0.4 56.2 95.3 

CR-27 0.921 32.2 15,790 8.6 41 2.6 64.5 25.3 

CR-28 <0.005 0.6 75.9 6 78 <0.1 131.7 30.7 

CR-29 0.042 2.5 646.9 29.8 50 0.8 84 146.2 

CR-30 <0.005 1.1 33.7 13.6 8 0.3 2.7 1.2 

CR-31 0.031 20.3 2324.4 1.8 12 0.1 34.7 10.5 

CR-32 0.008 1.7 20 25.1 574 0.2 8.8 5 

CR-33 0.006 1.3 15.6 133.6 94 0.3 16.7 4.8 

CR-34 0.008 5.5 11.1 82 85 0.5 26.6 10.8 

CR-35 <0.005 0.2 2.2 2.8 27 <0.1 3.1 1.8 

CR-36 0.007 2 334.2 129.6 169 0.8 11.8 6.4 

CR-37 0.02 9.8 24,370 373.1 323 9.9 13 3.3 

CR-38 0.015 3.4 26.4 3.9 27 <0.1 2.3 1.9 

CR-39 0.02 9.4 1445.9 33.6 100 0.4 11.8 40.4 

CR-40 0.045 7.3 171 14.1 89 0.7 7.9 9.7 
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SMPLE_ID Au ppm Mo ppm Cu ppm Pb ppm Zn ppm Ag ppm Ni ppm Co ppm 

CR-41 0.84 5.9 20,840 8.9 25 1.5 20.1 55.6 

CR-42 0.015 12.8 41 356.5 296 <0.1 24.6 3.1 

CR-43 0.008 1.4 38 6.5 19 <0.1 1.7 0.7 

CR-44 3.867 4.8 26,770 14.9 15 7.1 22.7 58.2 

CR-45 1.796 9.1 20.6 401.5 13 7.2 1.2 0.5 

CR-46 0.675 2 186.3 100 2945 0.9 50.2 29 

CR-47 <0.005 1.1 27.9 43.4 45 0.3 5.3 3 

CR-48 <0.005 1 14.1 8.7 25 0.1 4.1 1.4 

CR-49 0.015 9.9 110.8 8 82 0.2 18.4 18.5 

CR-50 <0.005 0.3 19.3 8.8 28 0.3 3.3 1 

CR-51 0.079 6.4 44,130 229.6 675 11.3 59.1 17.7 

CR-52 0.015 7.8 406.3 140 3263 0.8 64.6 26.8 

CR-53 0.046 4.6 23.3 870.4 66 3.6 5.5 1.5 

CR-54 0.005 2 533.8 17.7 26 0.7 1.9 0.7 

CR-55 0.006 2.9 171.3 33.8 194 0.6 15.6 6.5 

CR-56 0.007 10 333 11600 3312 23.1 5.4 4.3 

CR-57 0.028 3.5 101,000 3432.2 2060 120 6.6 3.1 

CR-58 0.008 7.9 1508.5 9440.8 7325 42.6 6.2 3.3 

CR-59 <0.005 0.4 16.5 30.6 111 <0.1 36 17.1 

CR-60 1.421 6.7 61,120 419.5 72 19.3 64.2 53.1 

ELHR-20 3.59 5.27 710,000 6.7 30 6.17 21.3 46 

ELHR-21 0.1 1.6 850.5 638.2 344 158 5.5 1.6 

ELHR-22 0.006 3.3 7.4 549.3 37 0.1 9.1 16.4 

ELHR-23 <0.005 0.5 32.7 14 125 <0.1 51.6 26.6 

ELHR-24 0.006 2.7 15.2 12.4 33 0.3 20 12.5 

ELHR-25 0.009 6.1 461.3 >10,000 1032 56.5 44.3 35.2 

ELHR-26 0.08 0.7 584 >10,000 >10000 195.1 22.3 49.2 

ELHR-27 0.149 9.9 8,000 28.4 59 3.4 118.6 103.7 

ELHR-28 0.008 2.4 87 >10,000 9878 10 5.5 1.5 

ELHR-29 0.07 5.3 64,000 838.8 46 3 2.7 0.6 

ELHR-30 0.013 3.7 >10,000 802.6 843 13.5 14 9.6 

ELHR-31 0.021 3.2 971.4 40.9 27 1 3 0.6 

ELHR-32 <0.005  23.7 11.5 57 <0.1   

ELHR-33 2.253  >10,000 264.7 72 10   

ELHR-34         

ELHR-35 0.073  2915.5 129.9 341 4   
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SMPLE_ID Mn ppm Fe Perc As ppm U ppm Th ppm Sr ppm Cd ppm Sb ppm 

CR-01 955 6.06 16 2 3 57 0 0.9 

CR-02 332 2.43 3 2.6 16.6 437 0 0.4 

CR-03 289 3.85 13 1.4 7 31 0 0.6 

CR-04 715 7.6 158 2.6 11.5 28 0 3.5 

CR-05 3968 11.71 681 2.9 4 149 0.3 0.7 

CR-06 623 4.54 7 1.8 7.2 255 0 0.6 

CR-07 >10,000 54.24 2563 3.1 1.8 127 0.2 52.3 

CR-08 610 46.27 557 4.3 4.1 67 0.5 79.5 

CR-09 1005 2.49 72 1.6 9.1 36 0 3.6 

CR-10 579 3.6 159 1.5 4.5 46 0 6.5 

CR-11 353 2.7 38 1.4 2.9 24 0 0.6 

CR-12 1454 32.45 2172 6.8 5.4 87 0.4 22.4 

CR-13 413 8.97 1371 2.2 3.5 57 0.3 11.1 

CR-14 68 0.83 42 0.5 3.4 16 0 2 

CR-15 2135 47.59 9732 4.7 4.2 45 17.6 109.8 

CR-16 354 36.5 >10,000 5.6 4.4 206 232.7 254.9 

CR-17 304 42.8 >10,000 3.4 4.1 104 114.3 158.5 

CR-18 1030 5.13 172 2.1 13.7 42 0 21.8 

CR-19 927 49.24 >10,000 11.9 3.9 83 0.7 94.9 

CR-20 82 3.87 2533 1.7 1.2 20 0 12 

CR-21 5969 6.6 5582 3.9 1.2 280 3.5 6.2 

CR-22 513 4.58 8 1.3 5.6 152 0 0.9 

CR-23 1739 3.11 83 1.7 4 55 6.6 2.2 

CR-24 558 1.11 4 0.5 1 12 0 0.2 

CR-25 1168 14.08 437 9.4 4 58 0.1 72.5 

CR-26 3828 29.68 799 5.6 3.2 55 0 2.9 

CR-27 9744 22.93 360 12 2.3 133 0 14.7 

CR-28 948 5.54 6 1.4 5.8 1235 0 0.8 

CR-29 360 43.26 4538 1.9 2.8 535 0.2 69.5 

CR-30 66 0.78 41 5.5 20.8 69 0 2.4 

CR-31 7312 26.4 144 5.6 5.8 110 0 10 

CR-32 1456 2.71 237 2.5 1.9 416 5.9 3.9 

CR-33 1058 2.17 34 2.2 23 172 1.3 0.7 

CR-34 4108 4.51 61 2.2 1.5 126 0.3 1.4 

CR-35 379 0.48 7 1.3 0.8 376 0 0.2 

CR-36 1005 4.4 94 1.8 0.2 2105 1.5 21.4 

CR-37 677 5.15 181 17.5 0.4 1338 0.4 54.7 

CR-38 638 0.48 150 2.6 1.5 325 0 4.3 

CR-39 1596 22.72 1576 7.3 1 85 0.2 13.3 

CR-40 >10,000 25.84 7182 9.2 0.7 133 0.3 71 

CR-41 >10,000 24.42 1185 9.5 0.3 268 0.3 46.4 

CR-42 738 2.29 88 3.5 1.2 155 1.5 20.6 
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SMPLE_ID Mn ppm Fe Perc As ppm U ppm Th ppm Sr ppm Cd ppm Sb ppm 

CR-44 3067 20.36 2750 14.1 0.5 111 0.2 45.1 

CR-45 36 25.85 3540 4.7 18 109 0.6 14.1 

CR-46 951 45.22 2150 3.5 24 31 1.1 8.5 

CR-47 644 1.09 34 1.3 1.1 25 0.4 5.5 

CR-48 340 1.09 10 4.4 1.8 32 0 1.8 

CR-49 3209 11.29 146 6.3 11.6 236 0.5 6.5 

CR-50 198 0.61 6 0.7 0.6 228 0.8 0.6 

CR-51 167 3.03 103 13.7 0.7 27 0 69.6 

CR-52 4357 25.85 762 78 0.6 17 1.2 116.9 

CR-53 323 22.9 >10,000 141 12.3 150 0 48.2 

CR-54 102 1.84 3448 5.5 22.2 34 0.1 73.6 

CR-55 648 3.91 1496 6.3 31.7 39 0.7 17 

CR-56 2021 2.27 142 2.6 0.5 1009 28.9 51.7 

CR-57 1467 5.89 440 13.5 0.7 223 8.1 1165.7 

CR-58 3854 7.04 183 2.9 0.9 819 59.5 121.3 

CR-59 592 3.94 30 1.9 11.8 87 1 1.3 

CR-60 2388 11.04 565 46.5 0.9 68 0.3 28.7 

ELHR-20 1680 8.34 1080 10.3 0.28 100.5 0.2 179.5 

ELHR-21 31 1.02 105 1.3 0.7 15 4 261.5 

ELHR-22 4919 3.61 12 1.8 2.4 127 0 0.5 

ELHR-23 585 6.39 14 3.7 15.6 108 0 0.3 

ELHR-24 804 3.01 105 6.8 1.3 32 0.1 5.8 

ELHR-25 617 48.29 5781 4.7 3.6 33 2.6 84.8 

ELHR-26 4708 17.84 >10,000 1.3 5 70 93 194.8 

ELHR-27 3535 7.08 344 22.3 3.6 90 0.3 23.9 

ELHR-28 3677 5.7 1113 3.5 0.3 991 58.6 17.4 

ELHR-29 103 30.78 100001 9.7 14.1 148 0 53 

ELHR-30 2844 13.83 1680 59.8 1.1 105 2.7 444.5 

ELHR-31 63 2.27 2949 5.6 236 30 0.3 30.9 

ELHR-32        1.5 

ELHR-33        51.2 

ELHR-34         

ELHR-35        281.1 
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SMPLE_ID Bi ppm V ppm Ca% P% P ppm La ppm Cr ppm Mg% 

CR-01 4 21 4.18 0.016  21.7 10 0.2 

CR-02 0 54 2.29 0.042  27.1 9 0.55 

CR-03 0.2 23 0.21 0.064  15.8 15 0.24 

CR-04 0.7 41 0.65 0.045  31 36 0.19 

CR-05 0.1 23 19.03 0.039  12.3 12 0.48 

CR-06 0 141 3.95 0.163  34.4 67 1.48 

CR-07 11.8 11 0.74 0.021  9.5 4 0.3 

CR-08 140.7 33 1.71 0.044  35.6 18 0.16 

CR-09 0.4 23 4.64 0.026  24.2 16 0.11 

CR-10 0.4 59 3.1 0.035  12.9 31 0.16 

CR-11 0.4 12 0.29 0.094  12.5 13 0.06 

CR-12 1.1 30 0.29 0.066  13.9 25 0.13 

CR-13 0.8 18 0.43 0.055  11.3 16 0.09 

CR-14 0 3 0.48 0.19  16 5 0.02 

CR-15 47.3 20 0.32 0.009  14.9 20 0.14 

CR-16 61.5 21 0.57 0.029  33.8 20 0.09 

CR-17 9.2 16 0.38 0.023  22.2 20 0.06 

CR-18 0.3 26 0.91 0.034  32.8 30 0.25 

CR-19 8 23 0.68 0.016  20.7 15 0.23 

CR-20 4.9 5 0.12 0.016  7.9 7 0.03 

CR-21 2.5 65 21.51 0.114  7.2 7 0.14 

CR-22 0 132 3.6 0.146  27.6 65 1.39 

CR-23 0.4 21 5.38 0.101  10.5 15 0.13 

CR-24 0 2 0.21 0.044  7.6 5 0.02 

CR-25 5.7 16 3.34 0.012  24.4 13 0.13 

CR-26 3.8 14 0.3 0.015  8.6 13 0.22 

CR-27 1.7 15 13.43 0.01  12.6 5 0.28 

CR-28 0 183 5.96 0.376  80.3 212 3.71 

CR-29 17.3 67 0.35 0.091  20.3 48 0.22 

CR-30 1.4 15 0.3 0.01  34.7 2 0.22 

CR-31 0.4 22 2.43 0.02  18.3 14 0.28 

CR-32 0.1 29 31.18 0.018  15.4 7 0.37 

CR-33 0.5 42 27.5 0.214  17.4 9 0.22 

CR-34 0.6 40 32.14 0.034  11.2 5 0.21 

CR-35 0 23 34.89 0.012  4.5 3 0.33 

CR-36 1 23 14.53 0.07  3.6 2 0.12 

CR-37 2.7 45 11.81 0.054  4 3 0.1 

CR-38 0.2 7 35.85 0.009  7.4 9 0.49 

CR-39 41.4 26 18.19 0.013  6.7 5 1.55 

CR-40 2 13 16.24 0.009  6.2 3 1.22 

CR-41 20.3 5 16.14 0.008  20.9 2 1.08 

CR-42 0.2 84 33.18 0.014  7.7 7 0.39 
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SMPLE_ID Bi ppm V ppm Ca% P% P ppm La ppm Cr ppm Mg% 

CR-43 0.7 2 0.41 0.003  36 2 0.13 

CR-44 146.2 9 13.28 0.009  26.4 4 0.44 

CR-45 3.1 6 0.19 0.03  8.6 55 0.04 

CR-46 0.7 34 0.29 0.022  3.2 18 0.05 

CR-47 0.1 28 0.44 0.088  5.2 6 0.06 

CR-48 0 34 1.78 0.038  6.2 6 0.12 

CR-49 1.2 61 4.31 0.061  19.1 11 0.33 

CR-50 0 11 19.89 0.043  7.1 4 0.08 

CR-51 8.6 115 0.46 0.05  10.7 15 0.06 

CR-52 1.5 151 0.31 0.027  7.2 14 0.05 

CR-53 169 5 0.42 0.007  20.3 3 0.08 

CR-54 2.1 4 0.38 0.008  32.7 1 0.1 

CR-55 2.7 8 0.34 0.005  34.4 2 0.16 

CR-56 0.6 14 21.24 0.006  3.9 5 0.61 

CR-57 7.5 4 8.48 0.008  3.2 4 0.93 

CR-58 1.2 13 20.76 0.008  6.6 5 2.66 

CR-59 0.2 77 2.52 0.033  32.4 64 2.78 

CR-60 39.3 37 0.65 0.081  15.6 7 0.08 

ELHR-20 19.1 6 11.45   90 25.3 6 

ELHR-21 9.4 11 0.04 0.006   3.8 188 

ELHR-22 0 7 33 0.019   11.3 11 

ELHR-23 0.5 89 1.38 0.046   46.2 116 

ELHR-24 0.1 82 0.47 0.062   5.7 282 

ELHR-25 42.1 14 0.31 0.014   30.2 46 

ELHR-26 6 14 6.31 0.01   37.2 119 

ELHR-27 73.1 90 4.68 0.041   21.5 148 

ELHR-28 0.3 4 14.45 0.004   1.1 4 

ELHR-29 61.2 6 0.32 0.005   19.7 45 

ELHR-30 1.9 32 20.82 0.008   8.3 16 

ELHR-31 33 4 0.17 0.005   36.4 114 

ELHR-32 0.3        

ELHR-33 831        

ELHR-34         

ELHR-35 1674        
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SMPLE_ID Ba ppm Ti% Al%  Na% K%  W ppm Zr ppm Ce ppm 

CR-01 249 0.038  1.25 0.029  0.21 0.2 15.8 45 

CR-02 936 0.321  6.91 2.063  3.26 1 37.5 56 

CR-03 209 0.166  2.46 0.037  0.29 0.3 37.1 36 

CR-04 431 0.175  4.65 0.036  1.07 1 60.3 65 

CR-05 1239 0.07  2.02 0.069  0.48 0.4 17.3 30 

CR-06 2465 0.489  8.19 3.704  1.18 0.5 175.8 67 

CR-07 419 0.006  0.8 0.053  0.18 0.5 3.8 22 

CR-08 270 0.032  1.45 0.038  0.53 1.2 13.1 70 

CR-09 195 0.109  2.39 0.025  0.7 0.6 52.4 51 

CR-10 275 0.161  2.86 0.053  1.17 3.2 36.9 25 

CR-11 112 0.053  1.77 0.023  0.26 0.1 14.9 29 

CR-12 166 0.069  2.47 0.038  0.62 0.3 18 29 

CR-13 104 0.057  1.63 0.051  0.41 0.5 24.2 23 

CR-14 17 0.018  0.41 0.01  0.17 0.1 5.7 48 

CR-15 156 0.06  1.8 36  0.67 0.2 17.4 30 

CR-16 304 0.042  2.37 0.124  0.61 0.4 12.4 64 

CR-17 374 0.049  1.58 0.09  0.58 0.3 14 45 

CR-18 418 0.198  3.43 0.036  1.14 0.7 66.6 62 

CR-19 388 0.046  1.62 0.024  0.68 0.3 18.7 37 

CR-20 41 0.023  0.39 0.046  0.09 0.2 10.9 17 

CR-21 1222 0.03  0.92 0.011  33 169.3 9 15 

CR-22 1957 0.472  7.43 3.351  1.13 0.6 149.6 56 

CR-23 700 0.048  1.03 0.163  0.16 0.9 17.6 27 

CR-24 68 0.008  0.14 0.008  0.02 0.8 5.3 17 

CR-25 253 0.038  0.91 0.015  41 1.1 23.3 47 

CR-26 462 0.034  1.32 0.017  0.4 0.4 14.4 18 

CR-27 442 0.019  0.59 0.022  0.27 0.6 14.1 25 

CR-28 5244 0.624  6.97 1.861  1.34 0.5 78.1 169 

CR-29 330 0.035  1.36 0.14  0.57 1.3 17.2 39 

CR-30 163 0.112  6.37 2.497  1.47 1.5 109.4 66 

CR-31 353 0.053  1.64 0.022  0.76 11 30.1 40 

CR-32 310 0.055  1.2 0.109  0.49 1.8 15.8 28 

CR-33 1042 0.061  1.22 0.013  0.59 1.7 16.2 31 

CR-34 964 0.032  0.83 0.019  0.35 1.4 11.3 20 

CR-35 218 0.027  0.71 0.008  0.17 0.1 8.3 8 

CR-36 653 0.008  0.2 0.006  0.06 0.6 5.5 9 

CR-37 778 0.01  0.22 0.008  0.06 8 8.6 10 

CR-38 243 0.043  0.79 0.033  0.25 1.6 9.3 12 

CR-39 403 0.015  0.49 0.021  0.17 3.5 5.8 12 

CR-40 492 0.008  0.36 0.017  0.17 1 3.8 12 

CR-41 904 0.004  0.16 0.016  0.08 1 2 45 

CR-42 1646 0.025  0.56 0.01  0.18 2.4 9.2 12 
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SMPLE_ID Ba ppm Ti% Al% Na% K% W ppm Zr ppm Ce ppm 

CR-44 119 0.005 0.33 0.029 0.16 1 3.2 43 

CR-45 20 0.284 0.68 0.547 4.77 1.1 65.5 21 

CR-46 515 0.02 0.43 0.028 0.15 0.3 11.9 8 

CR-47 194 0.021 0.51 0.01 0.21 1.9 3.8 10 

CR-48 577 0.059 1.28 0.02 0.6 2.2 15 13 

CR-49 889 0.07 3.86 0.035 1.64 1.1 56.3 37 

CR-50 2830 0.014 0.2 0.011 0.07 0.3 3.4 10 

CR-51 156 0.026 0.55 0.014 0.24 1.5 12.6 22 

CR-52 192 0.01 0.43 0.01 0.14 19.4 20.4 16 

CR-53 57 0.03 3.58 0.537 2.99 0.7 71 45 

CR-54 287 0.043 5.75 0.038 2.87 0.8 95.9 63 

CR-55 1104 0.045 6.23 0.035 2.71 1.1 87.4 65 

CR-56 414 0.015 0.7 0.011 3 0 4.9 8 

CR-57 1448 0.006 0.43 0.012 0.17 0.1 4.7 6 

CR-58 774 0.01 0.61 0.007 0.24 1.4 5.9 11 

CR-59 724 0.443 7.75 0.122 2.58 1.5 88.8 58 

CR-60 314 0.021 0.49 0.013 0.2 4.1 7.1 29 

ELHR-20 0.48 300 0.006 0.26 0.01 0.1 0.9 2.3 

ELHR-21 0.04 229 0.034 0.67 0.008 0.27 0.5 6 

ELHR-22 0.22 353 0.033 0.84 0.042 0.18 0.2 10.1 

ELHR-23 0.4 374 0.494 11.84 0.487 3.4 1.7 78.7 

ELHR-24 0.06 193 0.033 0.47 0.021 0.19 7 18.6 

ELHR-25 0.16 87 0.028 1.14 0.047 0.32 0.6 11.7 

ELHR-26 1.41 11 0.07 1.79 0.024 0.61 0.3 26.5 

ELHR-27 0.26 699 0.098 2.53 0.027 1.06 3.2 30.2 

ELHR-28 1.92 182 0.004 0.27 0.009 0.1 0.4 2.7 

ELHR-29 0.09 19 0.029 3.5 0.637 3.55 0.5 68.4 

ELHR-30 0.79 495 0.013 0.62 0.015 0.22 3.3 7.8 

ELHR-31 0.11 178 0.046 5.56 0.047 2.93 1.1 91.8 

ELHR-32         

ELHR-33         

ELHR-34         

ELHR-35         
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SMPLE_ID Sn ppm Y ppm  Nb ppm Ta ppm Be ppm Sc ppm Li ppm S% 

CR-01 0.3  9 0.9 <.1 2 6 39.9 <0.1 

CR-02 1.4 13.2 12.1  1  2  8 32.8 <0.1  

CR-03 0.6 8.8 3.4  0.2 <1   5 129.3 <0.1  

CR-04 2.5 9.4 4.6  0.3 <1   6 36.7 <0.1  

CR-05 0.4 26.1 2  0.1  2  6 23.8  0.1 

CR-06 1.7 21.3 13.3  0.8  2  16 69.9 <0.1  

CR-07 0.9 19.7 0.2 <.1   2  4 19 <0.1  

CR-08 3.8 18.3 1.1 <.1   1  2 13.8  0.1 

CR-09 0.9 12.7 2.8  0.2 <1   4 18.6 <0.1  

CR-10 3.8 8.7 3.2  0.2 <1   8 31.8 <0.1  

CR-11 0.3 11.9 1.6 <.1  <1   3 47.5 <0.1  

CR-12 0.9 13.8 2.2  0.1  1  8 15.4  0.1 

CR-13 0.6 5.6 1.4 <.1  <1   3 13.6  0.1 

CR-14 0.1 15.7 5 <.1  <1   2 11 <0.1  

CR-15 4 14.4 1.8  0.1 <1   4 19.9  1.4 

CR-16 10.2 8.6 1.4  0.1  2  4 70  1.6 

CR-17 6.7 5.8 1.6  0.1 <1   4 78.8  0.8 

CR-18 3.1 14.8 5.4  0.3 <1   5 17 <0.1  

CR-19 4.1 15.1 1.7  0.1  2  3 5.4 <0.1  

CR-20 0.3 2.2 0.5 <.1  <1   1 3.9  0.2 

CR-21 3.9 15.1 1.3 <.1  <1   3 8.7 <0.1  

CR-22 1.5 17.3 11.4  0.7  1  14 52.5 <0.1  

CR-23 1 15.5 1.1 <.1  <1   4 76.5 <0.1  

CR-24 0.6 2.7 0.3 <.1  <1  <1  11.6 <0.1  

CR-25 7.8 17.4 1 <.1  <1   3 21.5  0.6 

CR-26 1.3 11.7 1.2 <.1  <1   3 14.6  0.1 

CR-27 1.9 36.6 0.6 <.1  <1   7 5.5 <0.1  

CR-28 1.4 17.3 14.4  0.6  2  18 31.1  0.1 

CR-29 2.1 8.8 1.1 <.1  <1   5 11.8  0.9 

CR-30 38 12.6 17.3  1.3  2  3 19.3 <0.1  

CR-31 5.6 34.6 1.5  0.1  1  6 12.3 <0.1  

CR-32 0.6 14.2 2.6  0.2 <1   2 9.1 <0.1  

CR-33 0.7 21.6 2.2  0.1 <1   3 8.3 <0.1  

CR-34 0.5 14 1.2 <.1  <1   2 5.8 <0.1  

CR-35 0.3 4.6 1.2 <.1  <1   1 15.8 <0.1  

CR-36 1.2 7.8 0.4 <.1  <1  <1  9.5 <0.1  

CR-37 6 6.3 0.5 <.1   1 <1  26.2 <0.1  

CR-38 0.4 5.6 1.7  0.1 <1   2 8.7 <0.1  

CR-39 5.3 6 1 <.1  <1  <1  8.7 <0.1  

CR-40 0.8 9.6 0.4 <.1  <1  <1  5.3 <0.1  

CR-41 0.9 25.7 0.2 <.1  <1  <1  5.8 <0.1  

CR-42 0.5 11.1 1.3 <.1   3  3 7.5 <0.1  
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SMPLE_ID Sn ppm Y ppm Nb ppm Ta ppm Be ppm Sc ppm  Li ppm S% 

CR-43  3  14  16.9  1.3  3  2 

<.1 <1 <1 

0.9 <1 2 

1 

<1 

1 4.1 <0.1 

2 98.6 <0.1 

2 5 <0.1 

<1 

4 3 

1 

CR-54 7 12.6 15.7 1.2 2 2 10 0.5 

CR-55 5 15.8 16.4 1.3 2 3 10.7 0.2 

CR-56 0.5 5.6 0.3 <.1 <1 2 8.4 0.1 

CR-57 70.7 2.6 0 <.1 <1 <1 8.6 <0.1 

CR-58 0.6 7.2 0.3 <.1 <1 1 4.5 <0.1 

CR-59 2.1 14.6 15.1 1 3 12 51.8 <0.1 

CR-60 4 23.4 0.9 <.1 <1 1 15 <0.1 
 

ELHR-20 50 2.1 23.4 0.4 <1 0.35 0.6 13.1 

ELHR-21 8 0.5 1.4 0.4 <1 <1 <0.1 54.9 

ELHR-22 24 0.2 24.9 1.1 <1 <1 2 20.8 

ELHR-23 94 3.5 22.8 16.3 1.2 4 18 262.4 

ELHR-24 11 0.3 5.8 0.9 <1 1 3 7.8 

ELHR-25 58 2.5 7.7 1 <1 1 2 10 

ELHR-26 76 9.8 26.2 2.1 0.2 <1 4 12.2 

ELHR-27 46 6 40.5 4.9 0.4 1 3 15.9 

ELHR-28 3 0.3 2.5 0.2 <1 <1 <0.1 1.5 

ELHR-29 44 15.8 9.2 7.7 0.7 1 2 3.6 

ELHR-30 16 55.5 16.2 0.7 <1 <1 2 3 

ELHR-31 73 6.7 13 15.9 1.3 2 2 10.2 

ELHR-32         

ELHR-33         

ELHR-34         

ELHR-35         

CR-46 0.8 4.9 0.9 <.1  <1  

CR-47 0.5 5 1.1 <.1  <1  

CR-48 1.2 5.6 28 <.1  <1  

CR-49 5.1 14.1 9.4  0.7  1 

 CR-50 0.2 7.7 0.5 <.1 <1 

CR-51 7.6 4.7 1.9 <.1 <1 

CR-52 0.8 14.2 0.4 <.1 

CR-53 13.4 11.8 9.4 0.8 <1 

 

   

   

   

 

CR-44 1.8 22.2 0.2 

CR-45 6.8 9.4 11.7 

 

10 <0.1  

8.5 <0.1 

4.1  9.2 

4.9  0.3 

11.7 <0.1  

 

13.7 <0.1  

7.4 <0.1  

3.9  3.6 
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Se ppm 

1 

1 

<1 

2 

1 1.9 <0.5 EKO17000114 

<1 0.6 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-07 6.9 <0.1 9.87 <0.005 <1 <0.5 1.1 EKO17000114 

CR-08 31.5 0.5 0.28 <0.005 3 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-09 31.9 1.6 0.09 <0.005 2 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-10 53.4 1.1 <0.05 <0.005 1 0.6 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-11 13.3 0.5 <0.05 <0.005 2 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-12 25.8 0.6 2.49 <0.005 1 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-13 18 0.6 0.48 <0.005 2 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-14 6.6 0.2 <0.05 <0.005 2 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-15 37.1 0.8 2.98 <0.005 1 <0.5 0.9 EKO17000114 

CR-16 27.4 0.4 42.96 <0.005 5 0.9 0.7 EKO17000114 

CR-17 25.2 0.4 98.47 <0.005 1 <0.5 0.6 EKO17000114 

CR-18 50.6 1.9 0.23 <0.005 2 <0.5 0.7 EKO17000114 

CR-19 36.8 0.5 0.54 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-20 3.9 0.4 0.18 <0.005 1 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

CR-21 14.7 0.3 0.97 <0.005 <1 0.9 2.5 REN17000567 

<0.05 

0.07 

<0.05 

1.63 

CR-26 17.8 0.4 2.39 <0.005 4 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

CR-27 13.7 0.4 3.62 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

CR-28 59.8 1.8 0.06 <0.005 <1 0.6 0.6 REN17000567 

CR-29 16.8 0.3 0.09 <0.005 <1 0.6 0.7 REN17000567 

CR-30 61.4 3.7 <0.05 

CR-31 39.6 0.8 2.83 

<0.5 REN17000567 

1.2 REN17000567 
 

CR-32 21.4 0.5 0.05 <0.005 <1 2 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-33 22.9 0.5 0.1 <0.005 <1 1.6 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-34 16.2 0.3 0.24 <0.005 <1 0.9 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-35 6.8 0.2 <0.05 <0.005 <1 2.3 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-36 3.1 <0.1 0.37 <0.005 <1 0.7 <0.5 REN17000612 
 

0.2 0.68 <0.005 1 0.6 <0.5 REN17000612 

0.2 <0.05 <0.005 1 4.9 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-39 9.2 0.1 0.47 <0.005 6 0.7 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-40 7.6 0.2 4.88 <0.005 1 0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-41 3.3 <0.1 4.32 <0.005 <1 0.6 0.9 REN17000612 

CR-42 11.1 0.3 0.07 <0.005 <1 1.2 0.5 REN17000612 

Te ppm Tl ppm Certificate 

<0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

<0.5 0.6 EKO17000114 
 

CR-02 104.2 1.5 <0.05 <0.005 

CR-03 14.7 1.2 <0.05 <0.005 

CR-04 50.3 1.8 0.34 <0.005 
 

<0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 

<0.5 <0.5 EKO17000114 
 CR-05 24.2 0.5 <0.05 <0.005 

CR-06 44.1 4.1 <0.05 <0.005 
 

     

     

     

 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

<0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

<0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

<0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000567 

 

<0.005 <1 <0.5 

<0.005 <1 <0.5 

 

CR-22 41.9 3.6 

CR-23 7 0.6 

CR-24 1.3 0.2 

CR-25 17.6 0.6 

 

  

CR-37 2.8 

CR-38 14.2 

 

SMPLE_ID Rb ppm Hf ppm In ppm Re ppm 

CR-01 10.8 0.5 0.08 <0.005 
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Hf ppm In ppm Re ppm Se ppm Te ppm Tl ppm Certificate 

3.8 <0.05 <0.005 <1 <0.5 1.2 REN17000612 

<0.1 3.66 <0.005 1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-45 200.4 2.3 0.75 <0.005 <1 <0.5 2.5 REN17000612 

CR-46 4.6 0.4 0.29 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-47 9.5 <0.1 <0.05 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-48 25.1 0.4 <0.05 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

0.3 <0.005 3 <0.5 0.9 REN17000612 

<0.05 <0.005 <1 0.7 <0.5 REN17000612 

<0.5 REN17000612 

0.8 REN17000612 

0.8 6.6 REN17000612 

2 REN17000612 

1.8 REN17000612 

CR-56 11.7 <0.1 <0.05 <0.005 11 2.4 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-57 6.9 0.1 4.17 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-58 10.1 0.2 0.6 <0.005 <1 1.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

CR-59 79.8 2.5 <0.05 <0.005 <1 0.8 1 REN17000612 

CR-60 6.6 0.2 2.16 <0.005 3 <0.5 <0.5 REN17000612 

ELHR-20 0.18 3.6 0.1 3.7 <1 2 0.05 EL16177384 

ELHR-21 0.1 13.9 0.2 0.29 <1 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-22 <0.1 10.3 0.2 <0.005 <1 <0.5 2.6 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-23 <0.1 148.2 2.5 0.1 <1 1 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-24 <0.1 10.9 0.4 <0.005 <1 <0.5 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-25 0.2 18.1 0.3 2.15 <1 2 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-26 8.1 34.6 0.8 26.57 <1 3 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-27 0.1 51.4 0.9 3.54 <1 1 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-28 0.3 5 <0.05 0.09 <1 <0.5 2 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-29 5.7 142.6 2.8 1.87 <1 2 0.6 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-30 <0.1 10.4 0.2 4.3 <1 <0.5 0.9 EKO17000049.1 

ELHR-31 0.9 122.1 3.5 0.4 <1 1 <0.5 EKO17000049.1 

 

   

CR-49 77.3 2 

CR-50 2.2 <0.1 
 CR-51 10.8 0.3 1.78 <0.005 73 <0.5 

CR-52 7.1 0.2 5.95 <0.005 2 <0.5 

CR-53 135.4 3 1.4 <0.005 3 

CR-54 134.1 3.6 0.41 <0.005 <1 <0.5 

CR-55 138.2 3.1 0.06 <0.005 1 <0.5 

 

SMPLE_ID Rb ppm 

CR-43 138.8 

CR-44 4.1 
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